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SUMMARY OF RELIEF REQUESTED

International Minerals Corporation (the “Applicant”) hereby makes application to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”) for an order pursuant to Section 3(b)(2) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (as
amended, the “Act”)1 finding and declaring that the Applicant is primarily engaged in a business or businesses other
than that of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities either directly, through majority-owned
subsidiaries, or through controlled companies conducting similar types of business, and therefore, is not an investment
company within the meaning of the Act. Alternatively, the Applicant makes application for an order pursuant to
Section 6(c) of the Act exempting the Applicant from all of the provisions of the Act and any rule or regulation
thereunder. The Applicant also hereby makes application to the Commission for an order pursuant to Section 45(a) of
the Act finding and declaring that public disclosure of certain information is neither necessary nor appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of investors, that confidential treatment of such information is consistent with

5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(4) and 17 C.F.R. 200.80(b)(4), and, therefore, such information should be withheld from public
disclosure.

APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 3(b)(2)
OR SECTION 6(c) OF THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940

STATEMENT OF FACTS
History and Overview of the Applicant

Since its incorporation in 1986, the Applicant has been exclusively focused on the acquisition, exploration,
development and mining of mineral properties. From 1986 to 1993, the Applicant (then named Vanbec Resources
Corporation and later Sartigan Granite Corporation) was focused on the acquisition and exploration of industrial
mineral properties in Canada. In 1993, the Applicant abandoned its Canadian mineral properties, acquired certain
mineral properties in Ecuador, shifting its focus to the acquisition and exploration of mineral properties in
Ecuador. In 1994, the Applicant changed its name to Ecuadorian Minerals Corporation to reflect this new focus. The
Applicant expanded its focus to encompass mineral properties in both Ecuador and Peru in 1999 and accordingly in
2002 changed its name to International Minerals Corporation. The Applicant became a producing miner in 2007 with
the commencement of commercial production at its Pallancata silver mine. In 2009, the Applicant further expanded
the geographic scope of its mineral property base to Nevada. The Applicant’s common shares have been listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange since 1996 under the trading symbol “IMZ” and is identified by the Toronto Stock Exchange
as being in the Metals and Mining industry group with a Gold and Silver Ore Mining industry classification under the
North American Industry Classification System.

The Applicant is governed by the laws of the Yukon Territory, Canada, and is subject to the continuous disclosure
obligations of Canadian provincial securities regulators. Additional

1 All references to “Sections” are to Sections of the Act, and all references to “Rules” are to rules and regulations
thereunder (at Title 17, Part 270, Code of Federal Regulations), unless otherwise stated.
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information with respect to the Applicant and its business is set forth in the Applicant’s 2012 Annual Report to
Shareholders, its Annual Information Form for its financial year ended June 30, 2012 (a Canadian continuous
disclosure document), Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the Financial Quarter ended September 30, 2012,
and its Financial Statements for the Financial Quarter ended September 30, 2012, copies of which are attached to this
Application as Exhibits 1 through 4, respectively.

The Applicant currently conducts its mining operations in North and South America through various wholly-owned
subsidiaries2, majority-owned subsidiaries3, controlled companies4, and other affiliated companies. Exhibit 5
attached hereto sets forth a list of the Applicant’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, majority-owned subsidiaries, controlled
companies, and other affiliated companies, as well as the percentage of each company owned by the Applicant and the
primary business of each such company. Included within Exhibit 2 attached hereto is an organizational chart of the
Applicant and such other entities. The Applicant and such wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries, controlled
companies, and other affiliated companies (together, the “Group”) are engaged solely in the mining business or in other
businesses ancillary to the mining business. See “Business of the Applicant.”

Management

As described below, each of the Applicant’s senior executive officers has extensive experience in the mining
industry. None of the Applicant’s senior executive officers has experience as an investment manager or adviser, and
none of such persons holds himself out as an expert in these areas. None of the Applicant’s senior executive officers
devotes any of his business time to investment management, apart from management of the Applicant’s cash. The
Applicant does not employ securities analysts and does not engage in the trading of securities for short-term
speculative purposes, investment purposes or otherwise. Additionally, the Applicant does not employ any persons in
the role of analyzing or managing the securities of public or private companies that the Applicant owns.

The following is a brief description of the professional experience in the mining industry and the mining-related
educational backgrounds of each of the Applicant’s directors and senior executive officers:

2 Section 2(a)(43) of the Act defines a “wholly-owned subsidiary” of a person as a “company 95 per centum or more of
the outstanding voting securities of which are owned by such person, or by a company which, within the meaning
of this paragraph, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of such person. The Applicant’s wholly-owned subsidiaries are not
a significant source of revenue for the Applicant.

3 Section 2(a)(24) of the Act defines a “majority-owned subsidiary” of a person as a “company 50 per centum or more
of the outstanding voting securities of which are owned by such person, or by a company which, within the
meaning of this paragraph, is a majority-owned subsidiary of such person.” The term “majority-owned subsidiary’
when used in this Application has the meaning given to such term in the Act.

’

4 “Control” is defined in Section 2(a)(9) of the Act to mean “the power to exercise a controlling influence over the
management or policies of a company, unless such power is solely the result of an official position within the
company. Any person who owns beneficially, either directly or through one or more controlled companies, more
than 25% of the voting securities of a company shall be presumed to control such company.” The term “controlled
company” when used in this Application has the meaning given to such term in the Act.
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Stephen J. Kay

Mr. Kay has been President, CEO and a Director of the Applicant since 1993. He is a geologist with over 39 years of
gold exploration experience in Europe, South Africa, South America and the United States. From 1985 to 1993, he
was founder and President of GD Resources Inc., a successful smelter of precious metal by-products from U.S. gold
mines. From 1983 to 1985, Mr. Kay worked with Amselco Exploration (BP Minerals) where he was involved in the
discoveries of the Colosseum and Yellow Aster gold mines, both in California. During his 10 years with Gold Fields
Mining Corporation until 1983, he was head of the project team that discovered the three-million ounce Mesquite gold
mine in California. He graduated in 1973 with a Bachelor of Science degree in geology from Swansea University in
Wales, United Kingdom. Mr. Kay is also a director of New Dimension Resources.

Scott Brunsdon

Mr. Brunsdon is Chief Financial Officer of the Applicant and brings to the Applicant over 26 years of financial and

management experience in the mining sector with both junior and major companies, including 17 years with Placer

Dome Inc. in the United States and Canada. He has also held senior management positions with mining companies

Dayton Mining Corporation, Hillsborough Resources Limited and Revett Minerals Inc.. Most recently he was a

financial advisor to the CFO for Timmins Gold Corp. assisting that company to enhance its internal and public

reporting functions as it transitioned to an operating company from a pure mineral exploration company. He holds a

Bachelor’s degree in Commerce (Economics) from the University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada and an MBA
from the University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada.

Nick Appleyard

Mr. Appleyard is Vice President, Corporate Development for the Applicant. Except for a short period, he has worked
with the Applicant since 1995. Prior to his recent appointment as VP Corporate Development, he was responsible for
the technical management of all of the Applicant’s exploration and development projects in Ecuador and Peru, together
with playing a key role in identifying and evaluating potential new corporate acquisitions for the Applicant. He
graduated from Curtin University in Perth, Australia with a B.Sc. (Geology) in 1991 and has worked predominantly in
gold exploration, development and mining projects in Australia, South America and East Africa. With his
involvement in various precious metal projects ranging from exploration through to development, construction and
operation, he has developed specialized skills in marrying resource and reserve estimation techniques with project
management and economic evaluation requirements.

Business of the Applicant

The Applicant and other members of the Group are engaged exclusively and actively in the exploration, development
and mining of gold and silver deposits in North and South America. The Applicant’s Pallancata underground silver
mine, which is owned and operated by one of the Applicant’s controlled companies, has proven to be a world-class
operation and is
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currently ranked number six in the world as a primary silver producer. This asset has generated significant income
and cash flows for the Applicant.

The Applicant owns, through its subsidiaries and controlled and affiliated companies, six principal gold and silver
projects and additional non-principal projects in three countries with attributable gold equivalent resource ounces of
12.8 million in the measured and indicated categories.5

As of September 30, 2012, the Applicant, together with its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries, had
approximately 95 full-time employees and approximately 40 independent contractors or part-time employees. Of
these employees and contractors, approximately 80 percent are involved in mining production and exploration-related
activities and 20 percent are involved in administration. In addition, as of September 30, 2012, Suyamarca, a
controlled company, had approximately 800 full-time employees and 930 independent contractors. Approximately
90 percent of such employees and contractors are involved in mining production and exploration-related activities,
while only approximately 10 percent are involved in administration.

Set forth below is a brief description of the activities of the Applicant’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, majority-owned
subsidiaries, controlled companies, the Applicant’s other affiliated companies and the Applicant’s other assets.

The Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries

As indicated in Exhibit 5 attached hereto, the Applicant currently has 14 wholly-owned subsidiaries. The activities of

these subsidiaries principally consist of the exploration, development, and mining of silver and gold. These

subsidiaries hold, among other things, the Applicant’s interests in the Converse and Goldfield gold properties in
Nevada, the Rio Blanco gold-silver property in Ecuador and portions of the Applicant’s Gaby gold property in
Ecuador. The Applicant is currently conducting a feasibility study with respect to the Goldfield property in Nevada,

with a view to achieving heap leach production in 2015. Further, the Applicant recently completed a scoping study at

the Converse gold property and is continuing with drilling and the preparation of an environmental impact statement

and plans to commence a full feasibility study within the next few months.

The Majority-Owned Subsidiaries

As indicated in Exhibit 5 attached hereto, the Applicant currently has three majority-owned subsidiaries. These
subsidiaries hold, among other things, the remaining portions of the Applicant’s Gaby gold property in Ecuador.

5 Mineral resources are disclosed in compliance with Canadian disclosure standards under National Instrument
43-101.




Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

Suyamarca — A Controlled Company

Prior to June 30, 2006, the Applicant’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Minera Oro Vega S.A.C. (“Minorva”), held a 100%
interest in the Pallancata silver property. To facilitate bringing Pallancata into commercial production, the Applicant
and Minorva entered into a joint venture agreement effective June 30, 2006 with affiliates of a Peruvian mining
company, Mauricio Hochschild & Cia. S.A.C. (collectively, “Hochschild”).6 In exchange for a 60% interest in the
venture, Hochschild agreed to provide 100% of the funds required for drilling and associated costs incurred in
converting all or part of the then known mineral resources to mineral reserves on the Pallancata project. Hochschild
also agreed to provide 100% of the capital investment required to develop, permit and construct a mining operation at
Pallancata. Due to provisions of Peruvian law, it was determined necessary to structure the joint venture as a Peruvian
joint venture company. Accordingly, the parties formed Minera Suyamarca S.A.C. (“Suyamarca”), with Minorva
receiving a 40% interest and Hochschild receiving a 60% interest. Pallancata commenced commercial production in
September 2007.

Prior to December 23, 2010, the Applicant’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Ventura Gold Corp. (“Ventura”) held a 51%
interest in the Inmaculada gold-silver property through a letter agreement with Hochschild, which held the remaining
49% interest. To facilitate the development of Inmaculada, the Pallancata joint venture agreement and the Inmaculada
letter agreement were terminated and replaced by a new joint venture agreement effective December 23, 2010 among
the Applicant, Minorva, Ventura and Hochschild, covering both Pallancata and Inmaculada. Hochschild’s interest in
the Inmaculada project was increased to 60%, with the Applicant retaining a 40% interest. Hochschild agreed to,
among other things, provide 100% of the first $100 million of required funding to complete a feasibility study towards
the planning, development and construction of a mining operation at Inmaculada. Ownership of the Inmaculada
project was later transferred to Suyamarca. The parties are now constructing a mine at Inmaculada, targeting
commencement of production in December 2013.

Suyamarca also holds the Pacapausa and Puquiopata mineral exploration properties in Peru.

Suyamarca, as a corporate entity, is dedicated to developing and producing gold and silver from the Pallancata Mine,
and Inmaculada, Pacapausa and Puquiopata properties. As such, Suyamarca is primarily engaged in the business of
mining and is not in any way engaged in a business or businesses that consists of investing, reinvesting, owning,
holding, or trading in securities.

Pursuant to Section 2(a)(9) of the Act, the Applicant is presumed to control Suyamarca as a result of its 40%
ownership interest created through the joint venture agreement. In addition, the Applicant believes that Suyamarca is
in fact controlled by the Applicant through the Applicant itself and the Applicant’s wholly-owned subsidiaries,
although such control is shared

6 Joint ventures are common in the mining industry. Previously, the Commission has granted the relief sought
herein by the Applicant to issuers involved in the mining business where such issuers conduct their business
through ownership interests in joint ventures. See, e.g., In re Consolidated TVX Mining Corporation, Investment
Company Act Release No. IC-17902 (December 11, 1990).
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with Hochschild which has a 60% ownership interest. Set forth below is a description of the arrangements entered
into with respect to the ownership and management of Suyamarca which demonstrate the Applicant’s power to
exercise a controlling influence over the management and policies of Suyamarca.

Control Over Major Corporate Events

The 2010 joint venture agreement between the Applicant and Hochschild provides the Applicant with control over
major corporate events, as further set forth in Exhibit 6, which has been submitted to the Commission under separate
cover. Through these controls, the Applicant has the ability to significantly control the business operations of
Suyamarca and, as such, effectively controls Suyamarca for purposes of the Act.7

In addition, in March 2011, the Board of Directors of Suyamarca appointed the Applicant, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary Minorva, to undertake all required exploration activities on land controlled by Suyamarca that is located
outside of the direct mining area. Minorva and its staff are responsible for managing this exploration.

Board of Directors

Subject to the joint venture agreement, Suyamarca’s affairs are governed by Suyamarca’s Board of Directors. Stephen
Kay, the Applicant’s President and Chief Executive Officer, serves as a director of Suyamarca and in that capacity
exercises the Applicant’s control over Suyamarca, as described in more detail in Exhibit 6.

Together, the Applicant and Hochschild govern the business affairs of Suyamarca. In addition, due the significant
expertise of the Applicant and its management, Hochschild looks to the Applicant as a technical and business partner
and the Applicant provides significant advice in the review of technical studies and interpretation of data and
involvement in establishing Suyamarca’s business practices and priorities through the Applicant’s participation on
Suyamarca’s Board of Directors.8

Other Controls

The joint venture agreement provides for certain other significant controls over the business and affairs of Suyamarca,
each as described in detail in Exhibit 6.

7 The existence of control in fact through the exercise of influence over the management and policies of a controlled
company has been relied on by issuers in the past in establishing that those issuers are engaged in a business,
through controlled companies, other than investing in securities. See, e.g., Compania de Minas Buenaventura S.A.
(1996). Compania de Minas Buenaventura (“Buenaventura”) exerted influence over a controlled company through
provisions similar to those stated in this application regarding Suyamarca.

8 1In 2000, Yahoo! Inc. applied for, and received, exemptive relief from the Act. Yahoo! Inc., at the time of its
application, owned a 34% interest in a joint venture. Yahoo! Inc. presented its interest in that joint venture as a
controlling interest because of Yahoo! Inc.’s ability to significantly control the joint venture through Yahoo! Inc.’s
involvement with the joint venture’s board of directors. Through such involvement, like the Applicant’s
involvement in Suyamarca’s board, Yahoo! Inc. directly oversaw the operations of the joint venture.
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Affiliated Companies

As indicated in Exhibit 5 attached hereto, the Applicant also owns interests in one affiliated company. The activities
of this company principally consist, like those described above, of exploration, development, and mining of silver and
gold. A brief description of such company is included in Exhibit 5.9

The business activities and purposes of the Group primarily involve the exploration, development, and mining of gold
and silver mineral resources in North and South America. The Group, as summarized in this section and the attached
Exhibit 5 does not primarily engage in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities.

REASON RELIEF IS NECESSARY

The complex nature of the Applicant’s structure, which was not created with the Act in mind, but which necessarily
reflects the laws and business customs of the countries where the Applicant carries on its mining business, as well as

the way the mining business is conducted generally, and the Applicant’s interest in Suyamarca through which the
Applicant conducts certain of its mining operations, pose the issue of whether the Applicant should be considered an

investment company within the meaning of Section 3(a)(3) of the Act.

The Applicant strongly believes it is not an investment company as defined by the Act and as such is filing this
Application to clarify its status under the Act. The Applicant believes that, as a result of its business operations, it is
excepted from the definition of “investment company” in Section 3(a) of the Act and is seeking to reduce any
uncertainty about its respective status under the Act.

It is important for the Applicant to resolve its status under the Act so that the Company may engage in potential and
contemplated (1) private placements under Rule 144 A of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Rule 144A”) and Regulation S of
the Securities Act of 1933 (“Reg. S”), (2) public offerings in the United States; (3) registration under the
Multi-Jurisdictional Disclosure System between the United States and Canada, or (4) agreements in the United
States. The clarity sought through this Application will allow the Applicant to conduct its future mining business
without the uncertainty created by the possibility that the Applicant might be considered an investment company.

The Applicant owns “investment securities” within the meaning of Section 3(a)(3) of the Act, and these investment
securities significantly exceed 40% of the valuel0 of the Applicant’s

9 The Applicant believes that, as with Suyamarca, certain of the other affiliated companies are “controlled companies”
within the meaning of Section 3(b)(2) of the Act. However, due to the relatively small size of such companies, for
purposes of this Application, they are not treated as controlled companies.

10 The “value” of assets of a registered investment company for purposes of Section of the Act is defined in Section
2(a)(41) of the Act. Section 2(a)(41) of the Act defines “value” to mean

(i) with respect to securities owned at the end of the last preceding fiscal
quarter for which market quotations are available, the market value at the
end of such quarter; (ii) with respect to other securities and assets owned at
the end of the last preceding fiscal quarter, fair value at

10
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assets on an unconsolidated basis.11 Consequently, on the basis of its holdings of investment securities, the Applicant
may inadvertently be considered an investment company under Section 3(a)(3).12

The Applicant does not appear to qualify for the exception set forth in Section 3(b)(1) of the Act because a significant
portion of its business is conducted not directly or through wholly owned-subsidiaries, but through majority-owned
subsidiaries, controlled companies and other affiliated companies.

Finally, the Applicant does not currently appear to qualify for the exemption from the Act provided by Rule 3a-1, 17
C.F.R. § 270-3a-1, which the Commission promulgated as a “safe harbor.” The Applicant exceeds the asset and income
thresholds of Rule 3a-1 principally due to the Applicant’s ownership interest in Suyamarca.

For these reasons, by this Application, the Applicant seeks an order exempting it from regulation as an investment
company under Section 3(b)(2) or Section 6(c) of the Act.

BASIS FOR RELIEF REQUESTED

The Applicant is entitled to relief because it is primarily engaged, through majority-owned subsidiaries, and through
controlled companies conducting similar lines of business, in businesses other than that of investing, reinvesting,
owning, holding, or trading in securities.

Section 3(b)(2)
Section 3(b)(2) of the Act authorizes the Commission to grant an order exempting an issuer from registration as an

investment company under the Act whenever the Commission finds, upon application, that the entity is “primarily
engaged in a business other than that of

the end of such quarter, as determined in good faith by the board of directors;
and (iii) with respect to securities and other assets acquired after the end of the
last preceding fiscal quarter, the cost thereof.

While Section 2(a)(41) of the Act literally defines only the value of assets of registered investment companies, the
Commission has taken the position that Section 2(a)(41) of the Act also applies to a determination of asset value of
other companies for purposes of Section 3(a)(3) of the Act. See Certain Prima Facie Investment Companies,
Investment Company Act Release No. 10937 (Nov. 13, 1979) (“Release 10937”). See also SEC v. Fifth Avenue
Coach Lines, Inc., 289 F. Supp. 3, 27 n.13 (S.D.N.Y. 1968) (indicating the Commission had no objection to the use
of such definition for purposes of Section 3).

11 For purposes of calculating the amount of "investment securities" owned by the Applicant, the Applicant has
included the securities of all of the companies listed in Exhibit 3, except for the Applicant’s majority-owned
subsidiaries. The Applicant exceeds the 40% threshold principally due to the value (calculated in accordance with
Section 2(a)(41) of the Act) of the Applicant’s ownership interest in Suyamarca. In other words, if Suyamarca
were a majority-owned subsidiary, the Applicant would fall well below the 40% threshold.

12 The Applicant is not, and is not proposing to be, engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting, or
trading in securities. The Applicant submits, therefore, that it is not an investment company under Section
3(a)(1). Nor does the Applicant issue, propose to issue, or have outstanding installment face-amount certificates,

12
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so as to fall with Section 3(a)(2) of the Act.

13



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities either directly or (a) through majority-owned
subsidiaries or (b) through controlled companies conducting similar types of businesses.” Release 10,937 and Release
11,55113, respectively proposing and adopting Rule 3a-1, confirm that notwithstanding that a company is, prima
facie, an investment company under Section 3(a)(3) of the Act, there are a variety of circumstances in addition to
those set forth in Rule 3a-1 under which the Commission may determine that a company is primarily engaged in a
non-investment company business.14

Under a Quantitative Test, the Applicant is Not Primarily Engaged in Investment Company Business

From a purely quantitative standpoint, the Applicant is primarily engaged, directly and through majority-owned
subsidiaries and controlled companies, in businesses other than in investing in securities. Suyamarca, a company
controlled by the Applicant (previously discussed and as discussed below in the footnotes)15, owns and operates the
Pallancata underground silver

13 Investment Company Act Release No. 11,551 (Jan. 14, 1981) (“Release 11,5517).

14 “[Clompanies which do not meet the proposed rule’s standards nonetheless may be found, pursuant to the
application process, not to be investment companies upon the Commission’s determining that the attending facts
and circumstances warrant such a finding.” Release 10,937.

15 As aresult of the Applicant’s 40% ownership interest in Suyamarca, the Applicant is presumed to control
Suyamarca pursuant to Section 2(a)(9) of the Act. The Applicant submits that there exists no evidence rebut the
statutory presumption of the Applicant’s control of Suyamarca.

Not only is there a statutory presumption that Suyamarca is controlled by the Applicant, but as a result of the
arrangements described under “Statement of the Facts — Business of the Applicant — Suyamarca — A Controlled
Company” and in Exhibit 4 submitted to the Commission under separate cover, the Applicant does in fact have the
power to exercise a controlling influence over the management and policies of Suyamarca pursuant to Section
2(a)(9) of the Act, although such influence may be shared with Hochschild. As Section 2(a)(9) of the Act has been
interpreted by the Commission, in M.A. Hanna Company, 10 S.E.C. 581, 589 (1941):

It appears to us that by the use of the phrase “power to exercise a controlling
influence over the management and policies of a company” the Congress
intended to include within the orbit of “control” situations where less than
absolute and complete domination of a company is present. This conclusion
is reinforced by the fact that the possession of a majority of the voting stock
of a company is not the statutory standard as to whether or not “control” exists .
. .. Further, the rebuttable presumptions set up in Section 2(a)(9) indicate
that it was intended that facts other than voting power alone are to be taken
into consideration in determining whether or not “controlling influence”
exists. Historical, traditional, or contractual associates of persons with
companies or a dominating persuasiveness of one or more persons acting in
concert or alone may form the basis of a finding of “control” in the sense used
in the Act. Nor is the statutory definition to be restricted to cases where a
controlling influence in the management and policies of a company is
actually exercised; an ability or power to exercise from time to time a

14
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controlling influence in the management and policies of a company is “control”
for the purposes of the Act. This potentiality of exercising a controlling
influence in the determination of the course of action of a company may exist
in more than one person at the same time or from time to time.

In other words, the Applicant can be found to have a “controlling influence” over Suyamarca even if Hochschild’s
ownership of the voting securities is equal to or greater than that of the Applicant.

10

15
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mine which is currently ranked number six in the world as a primary silver producer, and holds the Inmaculada
gold-silver property which is anticipated to enter commercial production in late 2013. In addition, the Applicant,
directly or through its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries, holds an additional four mineral exploration
properties in Ecuador and Nevada. None of such companies is engaged in the business of investing or trading in
securities. As of June 30, 2012, the value (calculated in accordance with Section 2(a)(41) of the Act) of all securities
owned by the Applicant, other than securities of the Applicant’s wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries and
Suyamarca, accounted for less than one half of one percent of the Applicant’s total assets (exclusive of U.S.
government securities and cash items). For the 12 months ended June 30, 2012, the Applicant recorded a net loss of
$1,026,280 on such securities, equal to -3.37% of Applicant’s income from continuing operations before taxes for such
period. For the 3 months ended September 30, 2012, the Applicant recorded a net loss of $253,488 on such securities,
equal to -2.37% of Applicant’s income from continuing operations before taxes for such period.

Accordingly, measured in quantitative terms, the Applicant is not primarily engaged in the business of investing in
securities. Through its direct operations and active participation in all of its wholly- and majority-owned subsidiaries
and controlled companies, the Applicant is involved in the mining business, and only the mining business.

Under a Qualitative Test, the Applicant is Not Primarily Engaged in the Business of Investing in Securities

Going beyond a strictly quantitative analysis, the Commission has prescribed a qualitative test to determine whether a
company is primarily engaged in a non-investment company business. According to Release 10,937, the relevant
criteria, as first set out in Tonopah Mining Co. of Nevada, 26 S.E.C. 426 (1947), for resolving whether or not a
company is primarily engaged in a non-investment company business are: (i) the company’s historical development;
(i1) the company’s public representations of its policy; (iii) the activities of the company’s officers and directors, (iv) the
nature of the company’s present assets; and, (v) the sources of the company’s present income. The SEC in In re
International Bank, Investment Company Act Release No. 3986, 1964 LEXIS 290 (June 4, 1964), appears to have
acknowledged an additional factor to be considered, which focuses on “plans for future development of its business.” A
review of these factors supports the grant of the exemptive order requested by the Applicant.

Historical and Future Development

The Applicant has had a long history, dating back to its formation in 1986, of being primarily engaged in the
exploration, development, and mining of natural resources, principally, gold and silver. The Applicant will continue
this focus and primary engagement for the future, as indicated by the relevant portions of its 2012 Annual Report to
Shareholders excerpted below.

Moreover, for purposes of Section 3(b)(2) of the Act, unlike Rule 3a-1, it is not necessary that a company be
“primarily” controlled by the issuer. Section 3(b)(2) does not preclude an issuer from exercising control under
circumstances where another entity or group also exercises control, and the Commission has granted orders
under Section 3(b)(2) where the applicant has admitted the existence of a significant controlling influence by an
entity other than the applicant. See In re Consolidated TVX Mining Corporation, Investment Company Act
Release No. IC-17902 (December 11, 1990); In re San Luis Mining Company, Investment Company Act Release
No. 9689 (March 22, 1977).
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Based on the foregoing, the Applicant submits that it is an operating company whose past has been and whose future
will continue to be committed to the mining business.

Public Representations of Policy

A company’s public representations have long been recognized as an important indicator of whether the company is an
investment or operating company because those representations reveal whether investors have been induced to acquire
the company’s securities in reliance on the income that may be realized from its investment activities. See Tonopah
Mining Co., 26 S.E.C. at 428-30; cf. Securities and Exchange Commission v. Fifth Avenue Coach Lines, 289 F. Supp.
3,30 (S.D.N.Y. 1968) (stating purpose of the Act is to prevent abuses growing out of the unregulated power of
management to use large amounts of cash), aff’d, 435 F.2d 510 (2d Cir. 1970). In this connection a company’s most
important public representations are those contained in its annual reports and its other communications with
shareholders and the investing public. See, e.g., Newmont Mining Corp., 36 S.E.C. at 432-33 (1955) (discussing
annual reports); Moses v. Black, No. 78 Civ. 1913, [1981 Transfer Binder] Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) at { 97,866
(S.D.N.Y. 1981) (discussing annual reports and public filings); Tonopah Mining Co., 26 S.E.C. at 428-30 (discussing
charter, application for stock registration, and annual reports to shareholders). The Applicant has never held itself out
as anything other than a mining company and, in particular, has not held itself out as an investment company within
the meaning of the Act. The Applicant has never been registered as an investment company (or subject to any
analogous regulatory scheme in Canada or in any other jurisdiction). The Applicant has consistently represented itself
to its shareholders and the public as a company actively engaged in the mining business.

For example, in its 2012 Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the Applicant
referenced its primary engagement “in the exploration, development, and mining of gold and silver deposits in South
America (Peru and Ecuador) and the [United States].” The Applicant cites, among its corporate objectives and
strategy, an intent “to continue to deliver value to shareholders by increasing its mineral resources and reserves and
expanding its low-cost production in silver and gold projects located in select countries in the Americas.”

The 2012 Annual Report to Shareholders, at page three of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, summarizes the
following development and production steps the Company plans to take to further grow and diversify its asset base:

— Increase production and cash flow from existing levels to approximately 200,000 gold equivalent ounces per
year in the next two to three years;

— Increase mineral reserves and resources at the Pallancata Mine, maintain current production levels and
maintain or increase cash dividend distributions from the Pallancata Mine;

— Advance the Inmaculada property to production by December 2013 and continue with an aggressive
exploration program in order to expand reserves and resources;

— Complete permitting and commence construction at the Goldfield Project in Nevada;

12
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— Continue with metallurgical test work at the Converse gold property in Nevada;
— Advance the Applicant’s other exploration projects in the Americas; and,

— Seek property and/or corporate acquisitions to increase cash flow and to expand the Company’s portfolio of
exploration and development projects.

In addition, in numerous analyst reports and other publications, representative samples of which are attached hereto as
Exhibit 7, the Applicant is described as a mining company, principally and actively engaged in the businesses of
mining. For example, the attached reports describe the Applicant as “a silver and gold producer with assets in Peru,
Nevada and Ecuador” and “a precious metals mining and development company with 6 primary projects in Peru,
Nevada and Ecuador.” In addition, as attached, analyst recommendations regarding the Applicant’s securities are
classified within the basic/precious metals industry.

In short, the Applicant does not, and has not ever, held itself out as an investment company. The Applicant generally
does not make public representations regarding its “investment securities” except as may be required by applicable
securities laws. The Applicant has never emphasized its investment income or the possibility of significant
appreciation from its cash management investment strategies as a material factor in its business or future
growth. Rather, as exemplified above, press releases and other written communications from the Applicant emphasize
the Applicant’s active role in mining and developing the earth’s mineral resources, and numerous analyst reports and
other publications consistently describe the Applicant as engaged in the mining industry.

In light of the foregoing, the Applicant believes that investors purchase shares of the Applicant with the expectation of
gaining from the Applicant’s growth as a leading international mining group, engaged in the business of exploration,
development, and mining of gold and silver deposits, and not from an increase in its investment income or capital
gains generated by the purchase or sale of securities.

Activities of Officers and Directors

The activities of a company’s officers, directors and employees are important in evaluating the primary business of a
company because they show the extent to which a company’s resources are directed to investment activities, as
opposed to operating activities. See, e.g., Moses v. Black, [1981 Transfer Binder] Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) at 97,866;
Newmont Mining Corp., 36 S.E.C. at 433-34; Real Silk Hosiery Mills, Inc., 36 S.E.C. 365, 366 (1955). The
Applicant’s senior executive officers are actively involved in the Applicant’s mining business. All the Applicant’s
senior executive officers devote their full time to management of the mining operations of the Applicant and the other
members of the Group. The activities of the Applicant’s directors are exclusively focused on the supervision and
oversight of the Applicant and its senior executive officers in the management of the Applicant’s mining
operations. The Applicant’s outside directors were selected for the Applicant’s board because of their specific
knowledge of mining and/or mining law and their specific knowledge of the countries in which the Applicant
conducts its mining and exploration business.

13
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The Applicant does not maintain an investment department or an analytical or trading staff that focuses on securities
investment activities. As described under “Statement of Facts — Management,” all of the Applicant’s senior executive
officers have significant experience in the mining industry and most of them hold mineral exploitation or geology
degrees. None of the Applicant’s directors provide expertise in the business of investing in securities or managing an
investment company.

Thus, the active involvement of the Applicant’s senior executive officers and directors in the Applicant’s mining
operations, their extensive experience in the mining industry and their educational backgrounds lead to the conclusion
that the Applicant is primarily engaged in the mining business.

The Applicant’s Present Assets

A review of the nature of the Applicant’s assets also supports the conclusion that the Applicant is primarily engaged in
a business other than that of investing, holding, or trading securities and therefore is outside the scope of the Act. As
of June 30, 2012 and September 30, 2012, the Applicant’s total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and
cash items) and calculated in accordance with Section 2(a)(41) of the Act were approximately $895.9 million and
$895.4 million, respectively. As of the end of the recently completed fiscal year and financial quarter, the value
(calculated in accordance with Section 2(a)(41 of the Act) of all securities owned by the Applicant, other than
securities of the Applicant’s majority-owned subsidiaries and controlled companies, accounted for less than one half of
one percent of the Applicant’s total assets.

The Applicant’s Present Income

Unlike a typical investment company, the Applicant has never derived any material income from selling appreciated
securities. For the 12 months ended June 30, 2012, the Applicant recorded a loss of $1,026,280 on the Applicant’s
investment in “other affiliated companies” and securities other than those of its majority-owned subsidiaries and
controlled companies (as listed in Exhibit 5 attached hereto), equal to -3.37% of Applicant’s gross income (net profit
before tax) for such period. For the 3 months ended September 30, 2012, the Applicant recorded a net loss of
$253,488 on such securities, equal to -2.37% of Applicant’s income from continuing operations before taxes for such
period.

Conclusion

The qualitative factors discussed above all support the conclusion that the Applicant is not primarily engaged in the
business of investing in securities, but instead is primarily engaged, through majority-owned subsidiaries and
controlled companies, in the mining business. Therefore, the Applicant believes that it is primarily engaged in a
business other than investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities and falls within the exception set
forth in Section 3(b)(2) of the Act.

Section 6(c)
If the Commission should decline to grant an order under Section 3(b)(2) of the Act as requested in this Application,
the Applicant requests that the Commission enter an order under Section 6(c) of the Act exempting the Applicant from

all provisions of the Act and all rules and regulations thereunder. Section 6(c) of the Act provides that the
Commission may
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unconditionally exempt any person from any provision of the Act “if and to the extent that such exemption is necessary
or appropriate in the public interest and consistent with the protection of investors and the purposes fairly intended by
the policy and provision of [the Act].”

A leading case, Moses v. Black16, states that the Act was the “product of Congressional concern that existing
legislation in the securities field did not afford adequate protection to the purchasers of investment company securities”
and that “[i]nvestment companies, most familiar today as mutual funds, are characterized by large liquid pools of funds
entrusted by the investing public to investment companies and their management for investment in corporate
enterprise . . . .” The main abuses of investment companies that the Act was designed to curtail were those that “flow
from the very nature of the assets of investment companies” because the liquid, mobile, and readily negotiable nature
of cash and securities made it easy for person to embezzle, steal, or use them for improper purposes or to foster their
own interest rather than those of shareholders.17

The Applicant is not the type of entity Congress intended be regulated by the Act, and its business activities are not
likely to result in the types of abuses that prompted the adoption of the Act. The Applicant was not and is not
organized as an investment company and is not engaged in the business of investing or trading in securities. The
Applicant’s assets do not consist of liquid, mobile, and readily negotiable cash and securities or large liquid pools of
funds. To the contrary, the Applicant has been, and intends to be, a significant long-term participant in the South
American and United States mining industry.

The fact that the Applicant has, for valid economic and legal reasons, chosen or been required to conduct its business
using structures not constructed with the Act in mind should not work to the detriment of the Applicant or its
shareholders by causing the Applicant to be treated as an investment company and subject to the Act.

As the Commission itself has stated, there has been a “proliferation of new vehicles, the development of new markets,
and the creation of new financial interest which by virtue of the scope and expansiveness of the operative phrases
‘primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities,” are within the reach of [the Act]. Many of
the vehicles and interests, and the markets in which they are traded, are adapted only with great difficult to regulation
under [the Act]; some appear as a practical matter to be prohibited under that regulatory pattern. In many instances,
the vehicles and interests implicate only to a minor extent certain of the core problems to which various provisions of
[the Act] are addressed.”18 The

16 [1981 Transfer Binder] Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH), at 97,866.

17 S. Rep. No. 1775, 76th Cong., 3d Sess. at 6 (1940). In its 1939 report on Investment Trusts and Investment
Companies, the Commission identified the following as areas of abuse: (i) the ability of unscrupulous brokers,
investment bankers, and commercial bankers to control investment companies for their own interests at the
expense of shareholders, (ii) improper transactions facilitated by unrestricted dealings between investment
companies and affiliated persons, which permitted far greater flexibility and allowed investment companies to
share in affiliates’ profitable enterprises, and (iii) the treatment of investment companies by insiders as a source of
private capital and as markets for otherwise unsalable securities. Report of the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Investments Trusts and Investment Companies (1939).

18 Request for Comments, Investment Company Act Release No. 17534 (1990).
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Applicant is one of those entities — a company that is not of the type and that does not engage in the activities which the
Act was designed to regulate.

APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 45(a) OF THE ACT

For the reasons discussed below, the Applicant hereby requests an order granting confidential treatment pursuant to
Section 45(a) of the Act for the redacted portions of this Application (Exhibit 6). Section 45(a) of the Act states that
confidential treatment of information in an application to the Commission is appropriate when public disclosure of
such information is “neither necessary nor appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.”

The Applicant believes that public disclosure of the information on Exhibit 6 is neither necessary nor appropriate in
the public interest or for the protection of investors. The Applicant submits that the publicly available financial data
and other information in this Application is sufficient to fully apprise any interested member of the public of the basis
for the orders requested in this Application and, more specifically, contains an adequate summary of the redacted
information. While the Applicant recognizes that the Commission may have legitimate reasons for wishing to see the
redacted Exhibit (such as, for example, satisfying itself that the description in this Application of such information is
fair and accurate), it does not believe there is a legitimate reason for a member of the public to have access to this
information that the Applicant does not otherwise publicly disclose.

Additionally, the Applicant believes that the public disclosure of this information would cause substantial harm to its
competitive position as it would provide competitors with insight into the structure and governance of the Applicant
that they would not otherwise have, and it may negatively impact the Applicant’s relationships with existing or
potential future joint venture partners or bargaining position in relation thereto. Lastly, the joint venture agreement
(which includes the information on Exhibit 6) requires that the parties treat such information as confidential. As such,
the Applicant treats the information contained on Exhibit 6 as confidential and believes that it is unlikely that such
information would fall into the possession of any other person unless the Commission were to make it publicly
available. In view of the reasons stated above, the Applicant believes that it has met the standards for obtaining an
order under Section 45(a) of the Act, and its request for such order should be granted.

RELIEF REQUESTED

The Applicant respectfully requests an order of the Commission, pursuant to Section 3(b)(2), declaring that the
Applicant is primarily engaged in a business other than that of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in
securities either directly, through majority-owned subsidiaries, or through controlled companies conducting similar
types of businesses, or, in the alternative, an order of the Commission, pursuant to Section 6(c) exempting the
Applicant from all provisions of the Act and all rules and regulations thereunder. The Applicant also respectfully
requests an order of the Commission, pursuant to Section 45(a), granting confidential treatment for the redacted
portions of this Application.
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The Applicant respectfully requests that the Commission enter an order pursuant to Rule 0-5 under the Act without a
hearing being held.

AUTHORIZATION

Pursuant to Rule 0-2(c)(1) under the 1940 Act, the Company hereby states that the officer signing and filing this
Application on behalf of the Company is authorized to do so by virtue of the authority vested in him by resolution of
the Board of Directors of the Applicant, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 8. The Company has
complied with all requirements for the execution and filing of this Application.

COMMUNICATION
The Company states that all communications or questions should be directed to:

Christopher L. Doerksen
Dorsey & Whitney LLP
Columbia Center
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6100
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 903-8800
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SIGNATURE AND VERIFICATION

The undersigned states that he has duly executed the attached Application for an Order Pursuant to Section 3(b)(2) or
Section 6(c) and Section 45(a) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 dated February 4, 2013 for and on behalf of
International Minerals Corporation; that he is the Chief Financial Officer of such company; and that all action by
stockholders, directors, and other bodies necessary to authorize the undersigned to execute and file such instrument
has been taken. The undersigned states that he is familiar with such instrument, and the contents thereof, and that the
facts therein set forth are true to the best of his knowledge, information and belief.

INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORORATION

By: /s/ Scott Brundson
Scott Brunsdon
Chief Financial Officer
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LIST OF EXHIBITS

1. 2012 Annual Report to Shareholders

2. Annual Information Form

3. Management's Discussion and Analysis for the Financial Quarter Ended September 30, 2012
4.  The Applicant's Financial Statements for the Financial Quarter Ended September 30, 2012

5. List of Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries, Majority-Owned Subsidiaries, Controlled Companies and Affiliated
Companies

6.  Summary of Confidential Terms of 2010 Joint Venture Agreement between the Applicant and Hochschild
(Confidential Treatment Requested — Submitted under Separate Cover)19

7. Analyst Reports relating to the Applicant

8.  Resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Applicant

19 The 2010 Joint Venture Agreement contains a confidentiality provision that applies to all parties to the
agreement. Pursuant to the terms of that provision, the Applicant is obligated to inform you that disclosure of the
information contained within this Exhibit 6 is not being made by, or on behalf of, any party to the 2010 Joint
Venture Agreement other than the Applicant, and that no other party to the 2010 Joint Venture Agreement, other
than the Applicant, is responsible for the truthfulness of the information contained within this Exhibit 6.
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Exhibit 1 — 2012 Annual Report to Shareholders

2012 ANNUAL REPORT

FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS
(TSX and SIX: IMZ)

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS - FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

September 28, 2012 All currency amounts are in US Dollars unless indicated otherwise
Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Although the Company’s financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 (the “Current Year”) was not as
impressive as last year’s record-breaking performance (the “Prior Year”), the Company still had a successful year and
achieved several notable technical and financial milestones and we are well-positioned for an improved financial
performance in 2013.

It should be understood that the Current Year marks the first time that the Company’s annual audited financial
statements have been reported under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and not Canadian GAAP.
Please see the accompanying Financial Statements and Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A) for further
details of this significant change in financial reporting.

Significant Achievements for the Current Year:

The Company:
Received significant cash distributions of $40 million from the Pallancata silver mine in Peru, compared to $46
million for the Prior Year. Pallancata is owned 40% by the Company and 60% by Hochschild Mining plc
(“Hochschild”).
Completed a positive feasibility study on the Inmaculada gold-silver property in Peru (also owned 40% by the
Company and 60% by Hochschild) and commenced construction of the mine. The targeted date for the
commencement of production is December 2013, subject to the receipt of final construction permits.
Issued a positive feasibility study for our 100%-owned Gemfield gold deposit on the Goldfield property in Nevada
and is successfully advancing permitting, with a goal of commencing mine construction by mid-calendar year 2014

and production in mid-calendar year 2015.

In May 2012, sold our 3% net smelter return (“NSR”) royalty on production from Barrick’s Ruby Hill gold mine in
Nevada for $38.0 million (net of taxes) and recorded a gain on the sale of $27.9 million.

Completed a Normal Course Issuer Bid share repurchase program and repurchased 3.0 million of our common
shares through the Toronto Stock Exchange at a cost of Cdn$17.1 million.

Also in May 2012, we redeemed in cash (at maturity) the May 2006 convertible debentures totaling $39.6 million,
while still maintaining a strong cash and equivalents position of $81.2 million as of June 30, 2012.

Reported proven and probable reserves at the Gemfield deposit and the Inmaculada property, both for the first time.
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Released a positive preliminary economic assessment (or scoping study) for our 100%-owned Converse gold
property in Nevada. A decision on initiating a full feasibility study at Converse will be made early in calendar year
2013 when all metallurgical testwork is complete.
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Financial Performance for the Current Year:
The Company:
Ended the Current Year with $81.2 million in cash and equivalents compared to $85.8 million in the Prior Year.

Reported net cash flow from continuing operations (primarily the Pallancata Mine) for the Current Year of $29.1
million compared to $35.9 million for the Prior Year.

Generated a gain and income from discontinued operations related to the Ruby Hill royalty of $30.0 million
($0.25/share) for the Current Year compared to $3.6 million ($0.03/share) for the Prior Year.

Reported a loss from discontinued operations related to the Rio Blanco and Gaby resource properties in Ecuador of
$53.2 million (a loss of $0.44/share) as a result of a decision to seek alternatives to maximize the value of these
assets, including a sale of the assets.

Generated after-tax net income from continuing operations of $28.0 million for the Current Year ($0.23/share)
compared to $56.7 million ($0.48/share) for the Prior Year;

Reported after-tax net and comprehensive income of $4.8 million ($0.04/share) compared to $60.3 million
($0.51/share) for the Prior Year.

Ended the Current Year with working capital of $126.7 million compared to $50.4 million in the Prior Year.
(Current Year working capital includes $40 million in estimated proceeds, net of selling expenses, from the possible
disposition of the Ecuadorian assets.)

Total assets decreased to $336.2 million from $369.7 million in the Prior Year, primarily due to the $53.2 million
write-down of the carrying value of the Rio Blanco and Gaby properties in Ecuador.

Reported the following production and costs data from the Pallancata silver mine in Peru:

@ For the Current Year, production (on a 100% basis) was approximately 8.2 million ounces of silver (Prior Year:
9.5 million ounces) and 29,689 ounces of gold (Prior Year: 34,517 ounces).

(@ The Company’s 40% share of production was approximately 3.3 million ounces of silver (Prior Year: 3.8 million
ounces) and 11,876 ounces of gold (Prior Year: 13,807 ounces).

The decrease in gold and silver production compared to the Prior Year was due primarily to a decrease in the grades of
both silver and gold processed because (a) higher metal prices allowed lower-grade material to be mined profitably,
(b) the mine experienced an increase in mining dilution due to narrower veins being mined and c) the mine
experienced operational scheduling constraints, which restricted mine development and backfill placement.

@ For the Current Year, direct onsite cash costs were $3.31 per ounce (“/0z) of silver produced after gold by- product
credit (Prior Year: $2.21/0z) and total cash costs (as defined by the Gold Institute) were $7.37/0z of silver
produced (Prior Year: $6.04/0z) after gold by-product credit.

Costs per ounce of silver net of gold by-product credit increased in the Current Year primarily because of (a) lower
silver and gold production, (b) lower gold by-product credit (c) an increase in mining costs associated with the
preparation of stopes exploiting the narrower veins, and (d) increased Peruvian mining taxes (under a newly-enacted
law in late 2011, which replaced the existing government royalty with an operating-profit based tax).
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Project Updates
A brief update on the Company’s key properties in Peru, the USA and Ecuador is provided below:
Pallancata Silver Mine, Peru (40% the Company, 60% Hochschild)

The Pallancata Mine in southern Peru continues to be a very successful mining operation and is now in its fifth year of
production. In 2011, it was the sixth largest primary silver mine in the world.

In calendar year 2011, Pallancata produced (on a 100% basis) 8.77 million ounces of silver and almost 34,000 ounces
of gold at a low total cash cost of $6.38/0z of silver (net of gold credit).

In calendar year 2012, the Company estimates that Pallancata’s production (100% basis) will be approximately 7.8
million ounces of silver and 32,000 ounces of gold at an estimated total cash cost of $8.00/0z of silver (net of gold
credit), which is considered low-cost by world standards. Similar production levels and costs are expected in calendar
year 2013.

As discussed previously, the decrease in gold and silver production compared to 2011 was due primarily to a decrease
in the grades of both silver and gold processed because (a) higher metal prices allowed lower-grade material to be
mined profitably, (b) the mine experienced an increase in mining dilution due to narrower veins being mined and c)
the mine experienced operational scheduling constraints, which restricted mine development and backfill placement.

The mine continues to process ore at the rate of 3,000 tonnes per day (“tpd”) and existing reserves (as of December 31,
2011) are approximately 32 million ounces of silver and 152,000 ounces of gold contained within 3.5 million tonnes
(Mt”) at an average grade of 287 grams per tonne (“g/t”) silver and 1.4 g/t gold. Including resources, the mine life is
expected to be at least another seven years. In the first quarter of calendar 2013, Hochschild will report new reserve
and resource estimates for the Pallancata Mine as of December 31, 2012.

To date, The Company has received almost $116 million in cash distributions from Pallancata for its 40% ownership,
a very significant return on an original investment of less than $5 million by the Company.

Inmaculada Gold-Silver Project, Peru (40% the Company, 60% Hochschild)

In January 2012, the Company announced positive results for an independent feasibility study at its 40%-owned
Inmaculada project, also located in southern Peru. Inmaculada is Hochschild’s #1 project for development worldwide
and, subject to construction permits, is being fast-tracked into production by Hochschild with a targeted production
date of December 2013.

At conservative base-case gold and silver prices of $1,100/0z and $18/0z respectively and a 3,500 tpd processing
throughput, an underground mine on the Angela Vein deposit at Inmaculada could return (on a 100% basis) a pre-tax

net present value at a 5% discount rate (“NPVS5”) of approximately $181 million and an Internal rate of Return (“IRR”) of
18%. At $1,500 gold and $25 silver, the NPVS5 increases to $551 million and the IRR to 38%, demonstrating the
robust nature of the project and its leverage to current metal prices. At base case metal prices, total cash costs per
ounce of gold (net of the silver by-product credit) are estimated at $172.

Based on IMZ’s 40% ownership of Inmaculada and Hochschild’s required contribution of the initial $100 million of the
estimated $325 million in feasibility study and initial capital costs, IMZ’s attributable pre-tax NPV5 is approximately
$85 million with an IRR of 26%, at base-case metal prices. At $1,500 gold and $25 silver, the NPVS increases to $233
million and the IRR to 55%.
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Estimated Proven and Probable mineral reserves at Inmaculada are 845,000 gold ounces and 30.1 million silver
ounces contained within 7.8 Mt at an average grade of 3.4 g/t gold and 120 g/t silver. The initial mine-life is 6.3 years.

4
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Goldfield Gold Project, Nevada (100% the Company)

The Goldfield property (“Goldfield”) is located close to the historic mining town of Goldfield, Nevada, with reported
historical production of over 4 million ounces of gold averaging 18 g/t gold, principally from the early 1900’s to the
1940’s.

Goldfield currently hosts three separate gold deposits (Gemfield, Goldfield Main and McMahon Ridge) with total
Measured and Indicated resource estimates of 1.2 million ounces gold contained in 31.1 Mt at an average grade of 1.2
g/t.

In July 2102, the Company announced positive results from an independent feasibility study on the Gemfield gold
deposit. The Goldfield Main and McMahon Ridge deposits do not form part of the current feasibility study as they
remain subject to further drilling and metallurgical testwork.

The Gemfield feasibility study shows that at a base-case gold price of $1,350/0z and a projected 6,000 tpd heap leach
processing throughput, an open-pit mine on the Gemfield deposit could produce 66,000 ounces of gold over a 6.5 year
mine life and return a pre-tax NPV5 of approximately $102 million and an IRR of 22% based on initial estimated
capital costs of $133 million. At $1,600/0z gold the economics improve to a pre-tax NPVS5 of $179 million and an
IRR of 33%. Total cash costs per ounce of gold (net of the silver by-product credit) are estimated at $611.

Proven and Probable reserves for Gemfield are estimated at 14.3 Mt at an average grade of 1.1 g/t gold, containing
511,000 ounces of gold.

Basic engineering is underway at Gemfield and, subject to ongoing permitting, financing and construction, production
is estimated to commence in mid-calendar year 2015.

Converse Property, Nevada (100% the Company)

The Converse gold project (“Converse”) is located in the western part of the Battle Mountain Gold Belt, a mineralized
belt that accounts for over 50 million ounces of reported cumulative gold production and mineral resources.

In December 2011 the Company announced the positive results of an independent preliminary economic assessment
(or scoping study) for Converse.

At base-case gold and silver prices of $1,300/0z and $25/0z respectively and a 45,000 tpd heap leach processing
throughput, an open-pit mining project at Converse could produce 160,000 ounces of gold over a 13.5 year mine life
and return a pre-tax NPV5 of approximately $185 million and an IRR of 11%, based on conceptual mine production
of 217Mt at an average grade of 0.52 grams per tonne gold and 3.9 g/t silver. At $1,600/0z gold the economics
improve to a pre-tax NPV5 of $639 million and an IRR of 23%.

Measured and Indicated resources for Converse are estimated at 320 Mt at an average grade of 0.51 g/t gold and 3.7
g/t silver, containing 5.2 million ounces of gold and 38 million ounces of silver. Currently there are no reserves at

Converse.

A decision on initiating a full feasibility study at Converse will be made early in calendar year 2013 when current
metallurgical testwork is complete.

Ecuador
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The Company’s Ecuadorian properties consist of the Rio Blanco feasibility-stage gold-silver property and the
advanced-exploration stage Gaby gold property. The Company owns a 100% interest in the Rio Blanco concessions
and variable interests between 50% and 100% of the Gaby mineral concessions.

In early 2008, the Ecuadorian government adopted a Mining Mandate, which suspended activities on all mineral
concessions in Ecuador while a new Mining Law was being adopted. Following the introduction of the new Mining
Law and regulations in 2009, the Company commenced negotiations in February 2011 for a production contract for
the Rio Blanco property. The negotiations have been on-going for over 18 months without resolution of significant
issues. In May 2012, the Company
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appointed two North American investment advisors to assist the Company in implementing its strategy to maximize
the value of its resource properties in Ecuador, including a sale.

Calendar Year 2013 — Corporate Objectives

During the remainder of fiscal and calendar year 2013, the Company's exploration and development efforts are
expected to focus primarily on:

The Pallancata Silver Mine (40% IMZ) in Peru:

— Working with Hochschild to produce approximately 7.8 million ounces of silver and 32,000 ounces of gold, in
calendar 2012 (the Company’s estimate on a 100% project basis).

— Increasing mineral resources and reserves to extend the existing mine life (approximately 4.0 years based on
current reserves).

The Inmaculada gold-silver project (40% IMZ), also in Peru:
— Working with Hochschild to continue with mine development, permitting and construction with production
targeted to commence prior to the end of calendar year 2013, but subject to the receipt of final construction
permits.

— Continuing with an aggressive exploration program in order to expand reserves and resources.

At the Goldfield gold project (100% IMZ) in Nevada: advancing the Gemfield deposit to commence construction in
2014, following the completion of permitting, with the goal of potential production in mid-calendar year 2015.

At the Converse gold project (100% IMZ), also in Nevada: commencing a feasibility study at the end of calendar
year 2012, if metallurgical testwork justifies such a study.

At the Rio Blanco gold-silver project (100% IMZ) and the Gaby gold project (approximately 60% IMZ) in Ecuador,
implementing our strategy to maximize their value, including their sale.

Continuing to seek investment opportunities in precious metals properties in low political risk countries in the

Americas, where the Company believes it can increase the value of such properties using its exploration,
development, financing and administrative abilities to enhance value.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and senior management of the Company, I thank the Company’s employees and
consultants for all their efforts in 2012 and the Company’s shareholders for their continuing support and belief in the
long-term success of the Company.

Sincerely,

Stephen J. Kay
President and Chief Executive Officer
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International Minerals Corporation — Location of Principal Properties
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Pursuant to the regulations of the TSX and the Swiss Stock Exchange (“SIX”), the Company must annually disclose its
corporate governance policies as an integral part of the information provided to the public to enable them to assess the
quality of the Company. According to TSX guidelines, this disclosure must be contained in the Company’s
Management Proxy Circular, which is filed annually, prior to the Company’s Annual General Meeting. Generally, the
SIX requires that a review of corporate governance policies must be included in an issuer’s Annual Report. However,
to avoid duplication of reporting, the SIX allows the Company to fulfill its obligation to report its corporate
governance practices by filing the disclosure annually in its Management Proxy Circular, which was filed
simultaneously with its Annual Report on September 28, 2012.

Corporate governance disclosure for the 2012 fiscal year is presented in the Company’s Management Proxy Circular
dated September 27, 2012, which can be found on the Company’s website at:

http://www.intlminerals.com/images/pdf/filings/Management_Proxy_Circular_2012.pdf
More generically, it is posted under “Company Filings” on the Investor menu tab of the Company’s website

(www.intlminerals.com). The information has also been filed on SEDAR (www.sedar.com) under the Company’s
name.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2012 AND 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of
International Minerals Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of International Minerals Corporation, which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2010 and the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years ended
June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
International Minerals Corporation as at June 30, 2012, June 30, 2011 and July 1, 2010 and its financial performance
and its cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP"
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Vancouver, Canada Chartered Accountants

September 27, 2012
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in United States dollars)

ASSETS

Current
Cash and equivalents (Note 5)
Receivables
Due from related party (Note 12)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Investments (Note 6)
Discontinued operations — Ecuador resource properties (Note 7)

Current assets

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment (Note 9)
Investment in associate (Note 8)
Investment in resource properties (Note 10)
Reclamation bonds (Note 11)
Discontinued operations — mine royalty (Note 7)
Discontinued operations — Ecuador resource properties (Note 7)

Non-current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current
Accounts payable
Accrued severance and payroll costs
Due to related parties (Note 12)
Accrued interest payable on convertible debentures
Convertible debentures (Note 13)
Discontinued operations — mine royalty (Note 7)
Discontinued operations — Ecuador resource properties (Note 7)

Current liabilities
Non-current
Convertible debentures (Note 13)
Deferred income tax liability (Note 19)

Discontinued operations — mine royalty (Note 7)

Non-current liabilities

June 30,
2012

$81,243,474
79,105
6,210,377
35,373
2,557,195
39,976,344

130,101,868

359,724
133,146,660
72,401,093
185,100

206,092,577

$336,194,445

$1,397,461
736,500
17,649

113,152
1,103,150

3,367,912

8,160,000

8,160,000

June 30,

2011
(Note 20)

$85,839,236
2,847,666
557,367
81,357
4,437,839

93,763,465

250,789
120,133,542
56,814,136
135,100
13,152,415
85,451,660

275,937,642

$369,701,107

$700,771
652,708
62,079
187,661
40,944,188
872,566

43,419,973

8,000,000

8,000,000

July 1,
2010

(Note 20)

$29,031,435

3,682,704

116,324
3,082,317

35,912,780

209,649
36,666,973
121,277,222
138,000
13,897,695
81,457,321

253,646,860

$289,559,640

$2,602,807

1,226,778
11,819
174,869
1,604,175
5,620,448
36,646,543
8,000,000
600,000

45,246,543
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Shareholders' equity

Capital stock (Note 14) 240,784,904
Reserves (Note 14) 4,869,396
Equity component of convertible debentures (Note 13) -
Equity gain on carried interest (Note 8) 16,782,196
Retained earnings 62,230,037
Capital and reserves attributable to the shareholders of the

Company 324,666,533

Non-controlling interest in subsidiary (Note 8) -

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $336,194,445
Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1)
Commitments (Note 21)

Subsequent events (Note 22)
Approved on September 27, 2012
by the Directors:

“Stephen J. Kay” “W. Michael Smith”
Director

Stephen J. Kay W. Michael Smith

245,260,695
4,774,831
4,945,008

63,300,600

318,281,134

$369,701,107

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

11

217,204,514
7,100,512
4,945,008

2,666,515

231,916,549

6,776,100

$289,559,640
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Expressed in United States dollars)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

Revenue $
Income from associate (Note 8)
Other income/(loss) (Note 4)
Total income
Expenses
Amortization and depreciation (Note 4)
Salaries and employee benefits (Note 4)
Administrative costs (Note 4)
Stock-based compensation (Note 14)
Financing expense
Write-downs
Total expenses

Income from continuing operations before taxes

Deferred income taxes (Note 19)
Income taxes (Note 19)

Net income from continuing operations after taxes
Discontinued operations net of taxes
Disposal gain and income from mine royalty (Note 7)
Write-down of discontinued operations — Ecuador resource properties
(Note 7)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations

Net income and comprehensive income after taxes $

Net income from continuing operations after taxes per common share

Basic $
Diluted $
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations after taxes per common
share
Basic $
Diluted $
Net income after taxes per common share
Basic $

2012

42,952,390
(1,178,435
41,773,955
(776,985
(3,387,372
(3,374,828
(627,506
(2,427,346
(739,566
(11,333,603
30,440,352

(160,000
(2,292,474

27,987,878

30,042,021

(53,238,265

(23,196,244

4,791,634

0.23
0.23

(0.19
(0.19

0.04

— N N N N N

)

)
)

~—

2011

(Note 20)

$

& &

©~ &

56,788,504
12,206,564
68,995,068
(761,063
(2,848,555
(2,098,400
(662,768
(3,801,160
(2,134,102
(12,306,048

56,689,020

56,689,020

3,632,190

3,632,190

60,321,210

0.48
0.48

0.03
0.03

0.51

~— N O N N

)
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Diluted $ 0.04 $ 0.51
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic (Note
14) 119,726,674 118,222,472
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - diluted
(Note 14) 120,298,346 118,984,254

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30

CASH FLOWS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Net income for the year from continuing operations
Adjustments to net income:

Amortization and depreciation

Stock-based compensation

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss

Realized gain on sale of investments

Unrealized loss/(gain) on investments

Write-downs

Financing expense

Equity income from investment in associate

Gain on sale of investment in associate

Interest income

Deferred income tax expense

Cash distributions received from investment in associate
Changes in non-cash working capital items:

Decrease in receivables

Decrease in prepaid expenses and deposits

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

Increase in due from related party

(Decrease) increase in accrued severance and payroll costs

(Decrease) increase in due to related party

Net cash flow from continuing operations provided by operating
activities

Net (loss)/income for the year from discontinued operations
Discontinued operations — mine royalty (Note 7)
Discontinued operations — Ecuador resource properties (Note 7)

Net cash flow provided by discontinued operations
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share issuance costs
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares
Convertible debenture interest payment
Convertible debenture payment
Repurchase of common shares

Net cash flow (used in) provided by financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

2012 2011

27,987,878

776,985
627,506
(1,358,469
(1,135,855
2,162,135
739,566
2,114,809
(42,952,390

(283,071
160,000
40,000,000

183,220
45,984
358,323
(210,377
(89,906
(44,430

29,081,908
(23,196,244
(24,734,433
53,235,898

5,305,221

34,387,129

1,067,518
(2,114,809
(39,577,883
(16,923,880

(57,549,054

)

)

$

56,689,020

761,063
662,768
2,419,178

(1,259,424 )
2,897,965
3,801,160
(56,788,504 )
(12,487,218 )
(285,174 )

36,000,000
3,532,287
34,967
(153,124 )
16,865

50,260
35,892,089
3,632,190
145,280
41,422
3,818,892
39,710,981
(33,856 )

25,395,893
(2,205,099 )

23,156,938
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Resource property expenditures

Proceeds from sale of property ownership interest

Purchase of investments

Sale of investments

Interest received

Purchase of property and equipment

Reclamation bonds

Recovery of investment in resource properties

Discontinued operations — mine royalty (Note 7)

Discontinued operations — Ecuador resource properties (Note 7)

Net cash flow provided by (used in) investing activities

Change in cash and equivalents for the year
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 18)

(15,148,669 )

2,650,000
(648,162
1,295,517
218,412
(221,934
(50,000

38,000,000
(7,529,001

18,566,163

(4,595,762
85,839,236

81,243,474

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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)

(17,093,600
15,000,000
(148,054

211,464
(80,736
2,900
603,065
(4,555,157
(6,060,118

56,807,801
29,031,435

85,839,236

)

)
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

Capital Stock
Equity
component  Equity N
of gain co
Number convertible  on carried Retained inf
of shares Amount Reserves debentures  intrest earnings Total su
Balance July
1,2010 (Note
20) 115,242,581 $217,204,514 $7,100,512 $4,945,008 $- $2,666,515 $231,916,549 $6,
Issued on
conversion of
debentures 2,616 18,570 - - - - 18,570 -
Issued on
exercise of
options 1,396,620 8,071,467 (2,675,574)
Issued on
private
placement 3,655,746 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000
Share
issuance costs — (33,856 ) - - - - (33,856 ) -
Stock-based
compensation - - 662,768 - - - 662,768
Forfeiture of
stock options - - (312,875 )
Sale of
controlling
interest in
Quellopata
(Note 8) - - - - - - - (6.
Net income
for the year - - - - - 60,321,210 60,321,210
Balance June
30, 2011 120,297,563 $245,260,695 $4,774,831 $4,945,008 $- $63,300,600 $318,281,134 $-
Issued on
conversion of
debentures 5,813 40,425 - - - - 40,425 -
Issued on
exercise of
options 278,000 1,593,999 (526,481 )
Expiry of
options - - (6,460 ) - - 6,460 - -
Repurchase of (3,000,000 ) (6,110,215 ) - - - (10,813,665) (16,923,880) -
common
shares (Note

5,395,893 —

312,875 = _

1,067,518 -
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Stock-based
compensation
Equity
component of
debentures
Equity gain on
carried
interest

Net income
for the year
Balance June
30, 2012
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117,581,376

- 627,506 -

- - (4,945,008 )

$240,784,904 $4,869,396 $-

- 4,945,008

16,782,196 -
- 4,791,634

$16,782,196 $62,230,037

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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627,506

16,782,196

4,791,634

$324,666,533 $-

51



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS

International Minerals Corporation (the “Company”) is incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Yukon
Territory) and is in the business of exploring, developing and exploiting its mineral resource properties in South
America and the United States. The head office and principal address of the Company is 7950 E Acoma Drive, Suite
211, Scottsdale, Arizona, 85260. The address of the Company’s registered and records office is 200-204 Lambert
Street, Whitehorse, Yukon Territory, Y1A 3T2.

In June 2006, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with affiliated companies of Hochschild Mining
Plc. (“Hochschild”) with respect to the Pallancata property in Peru. In order to earn and retain a 60% joint venture
interest, Hochschild funded all necessary costs to bring the Pallancata property into initial underground production at a
rate of 1,000 tonnes per day (“tpd”), at no cost to the Company and without recoupment of their capital expenditure,
except through their own share of profit distributions. Production at the mine has been expanded several times and is
currently approximately 3,000 tpd. The Company received its initial share of cash distributions in August 2009 and
additional distributions have been received throughout 2010, 2011 and 2012 for total distributions received by the
Company to June 30, 2012 of $109.7 million.

In January 2012, Hochschild completed a feasibility study on the Inmaculada property, also located in Peru, which is
also owned 60% by Hochschild and 40% by the Company (Note 8). In February 2012, the Company and Hochschild
approved the construction and development of an underground mine at Inmaculada.

At the 100% held Rio Blanco gold/silver project, located in Ecuador, the Company completed a feasibility study in
January 2006 and an updated capital and operating cost estimate in February 2009. Following the introduction of the
new Mining Law and regulations in 2009, the Company commenced negotiations in February 2011 for a production
contract for the Rio Blanco property. The negotiations have been on-going for over 18 months without resolution of
significant issues. As a result of the lack of progress in this critical negotiation, increasing social and community risks
and activism, a lack of clarity with respect to the components of the taxation regime, concerns for the security of
tenure for all concessions, and restrictive profit-sharing laws, in May 2012, the Company appointed two investment
advisors to assist the Company in implementing its strategy to maximize the value of the resource properties in
Ecuador, including their sale (Note 7).

The Company held a 3% net smelter return (“NSR”) royalty on all production from the Ruby Hill open pit gold mine
(the “mine royalty”) near Eureka, Nevada, owned by Barrick Gold Corporation (“Barrick™). This royalty was acquired as
part of the acquisition of Metallic Ventures Gold Inc. (“Metallic”’) completed on February 26, 2010, and produced nearly
$10 million in gross royalty revenue for the Company. The Company’s royalty interest was sold to Royal Gold Inc. in
May 2012 for an additional $38 million (Note 7).

The Company has identified proven and probable reserves at its Pallancata, Inmaculada, Rio Blanco and Goldfield
properties and is currently developing or may proceed to develop these reserves. The ability of the Company to
recover the costs it has incurred to date on its other properties is dependent upon the Company being able to identify
commercial ore bodies, to finance their development costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory or other
constraints, which may hinder the successful development and exploitation of the properties, or from their sale.
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The Company believes it has adequate funds available to meet its operating and administrative obligations for the
upcoming fiscal year. However, for significant capital projects, additional financing may be required.

June 30, June 30, July 1,
2012 2011 2010
Working capital $ 126,733,956 $ 50,343,492  $ 30,292,332

15
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) confirmed in February 2008 that International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) would replace Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) for publicly
accountable enterprises for financial periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Company adopted IFRS as at
July 1, 2011, with a transition date of July 1, 2010. The disclosures concerning the transition from Canadian GAAP to
IFRS are included in Note 20.

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2012, have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These consolidated financial statements are
the Company’s first annual financial statements prepared under IFRS and IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 17) with a transition date to IFRS of July 1, 2010. Consequently, the comparative
figures for fiscal 2011 and the Company’s statement of financial position as at July 1, 2010, have been restated from
Canadian GAAP to comply with IFRS. The reconciliations to IFRS from the previously published Canadian GAAP
financial statements are summarized in Note 20, and additional reconciliation is provided in Note 4.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments
classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at their fair value. In addition,
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow

information.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on September
27,2012.

Subsidiaries of the Company

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant
inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.

The Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

%o %o %o

Owned Subsidiary of the Owned Subsidiary / Associate Owned Subsidiary / Associate
Company Holdings Holdings

100  Ecuadorian Minerals 100  Metallic Goldfield 100  Goldfield property (USA)
Corporation (US) Inc.

100  Metallic Nevada Inc. 100  Converse property (USA)
100  Metallic Ventures

(US) Inc.
100  Ventura Gold Corp (US) 51 Del Oro property (USA)
100  Minera Oro Vega 40 Minera Suyamarca 100  Pallancata mine (in
S.A.C. S.A.C. (associate) operation - Peru) and
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100  Square Valley AVV 100  San Luis Minerales 100
(Aruba) SA (Panama)
100  Ecuador Minerals 100
Corp. (Panama)
55
50

100

Inmaculada property (in
development - Peru)

Rio Blanco property
(Ecuador)

Several Panama and Ecuador
companies

associated with Gaby
property (Ecuador)
Muyuyacu concession
(Gaby)

Papa Grande concession
(Gaby)

Other concessions (Gaby)
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The significant accounting
policies adopted by the Company are as follows:

Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amount of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

These consolidated financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such
estimates are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements and may require accounting adjustments
based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on
historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made at the
financial position reporting date, which could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following:
a) the recoverability of receivables; b) the valuation of financial instruments; c) the estimated useful lives of property,
plant and equipment and the related depreciation; d) the carrying value and recoverability of investments in resource
properties; €) investment in and contributions to the Suyamarca Joint Venture (the Pallancata Mine and the
Inmaculada development project); f) the carrying value of assets related to discontinued operations; g) the recoverable
proven and probable reserves and resources, life of mine, future metal prices, future operating results and net cash
flows and recoverability of capitalized costs for mining properties; h) allocation of purchase price on acquisitions and
dispositions; 1) accrued severance and payroll costs; j) the valuation of deferred income taxes and allowances; k) the
valuation of share-based compensation; and 1) the determination of functional currencies.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods. The most critical accounting policies are
described below.

Cash and equivalents

Cash is comprised of cash on hand, demand deposits, and money market funds, all of which are held in high-quality
financial institutions. Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less, that are readily convertible to cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
The Company invests in guaranteed investment certificates (GICs) and certificates of deposit (CDs) which may have
maturity dates greater than three months, but can be liquidated without penalty at the Company’s option after thirty
days. Because of the ability of the Company to liquidate these securities without interest or principal penalty, they are
included in Bank notes as equivalents.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of an item of PPE consists of the purchase price, any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use, and an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located. PPE are depreciated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the individual assets at the following annual rates.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Property, plant and equipment (cont’d...)

Automobiles and mining 10 % to
equipment 33%
Furniture and equipment 10 % to
20%
Computer/communication20%
equipment
Computer software 33%
Leasehold improvements 20%

An item of PPE is reclassified when held for sale or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset (determined as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognized through profit or loss.

Investment in mine royalty (“Ruby Hill royalty”)

The investment in the Ruby Hill royalty interest has been included as assets related to discontinued operations because
it was sold in May 2012.

Investment in associate

The Company conducts a significant portion of its business through equity interests in an associate. An associate is an
entity over which the Company has significant influence and is neither a subsidiary nor a jointly controlled entity. The
Company has significant influence when it has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the associate but does not have control or joint control over those policies.

The Company accounts for its investment in associate using the equity method. Under the equity method, the
Company’s investment in an associate is initially recognized at cost and subsequently increased or decreased to
recognize the Company’s share of earnings and losses of the associate and for impairment losses after the initial
recognition date. The Company’s share of an associate’s losses that are in excess of its investment in the associate are
recognized only to the extent that the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. The Company’s share of earnings and losses of associates are recognized through profit or loss
during the period. Cash distributions received from an associate are accounted for as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the Company’s investment in the associate.

Intercompany transactions between the Company and its associates are recognized only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associates. Intercompany balances between the Company and its associates are not
eliminated.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there is any objective evidence that an investment
in an associate is impaired. Objective evidence includes observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
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in the estimated future cash flows of the associate’s operations. When there is objective evidence that an investment in
an associate is impaired, the carrying amount of such investment is compared to its recoverable amount, being the

greater of its fair value less cost to sell and value in use (i.e. present value of its future cash flows). If the recoverable

amount of an investment in associate is less than its carrying amount then an impairment loss is recognized in that

period. When an impairment loss reverses in a subsequent period, the carrying amount of the investment in an

associate is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount to the extent that the increased

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had an impairment loss not

been previously recognized. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized through profit or loss in the period that the

reversal occurs.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd...)
Investment in associate (cont’d...)

Minera Suyamarca S.A.C. (“Suyamarca”), the joint venture company in which the Company owns a 40% interest, has a
December year end which differs from the year end of the Company. However, the quarterly reporting periods
coincide. For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the financial statements of Suyamarca for each
year end and each interim reporting period have been adjusted to be consistent with the Company’s reporting periods.

Investment in resource properties, exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration costs incurred on resource properties prior to the Company obtaining the legal right to explore a resource
property are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Once the legal right to explore a resource property has been acquired, all costs related to the acquisition, exploration
and evaluation of the resource property are capitalized on a property by property basis. These direct expenditures
include such costs as analytical costs, surveying costs, geological studies, drilling costs, payments made to
contractors, applicable administration costs and depreciation of plant and equipment used during the exploration
phase. Costs not directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including an allocation of general
administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures for the Company’s investments in a resource property are carried forward as
an asset provided that one of the following conditions are met; (i) such costs are expected to be recouped in full
through successful development and exploration of the resource property, or alternatively by sale; or (ii) although
exploration and evaluation activities in the resource property have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves, active field work and other activities in relation to
the resource property are continuing, or planned for the foreseeable future.

The carrying values of capitalized amounts are reviewed annually or whenever indicators of impairment are present.
In the case of undeveloped resource properties, there may only be inferred resources to allow management to form a
basis for the impairment review. The review is based on the Company’s intentions for the development of such a
property. If a resource property does not prove viable, all unrecoverable costs associated with the property are charged
through profit or loss at the time that determination is made.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been determined, the
property is considered to be a mine under development and is classified as “mining assets” in PPE. Investment in
resource property expenditures accumulated to that date is tested for impairment before the resource property costs are
transferred to PPE.

The amounts shown for investments in resource properties do not necessarily represent present or future values. Their
recoverability is dependent upon the discovery of economically-recoverable mineral reserves, the ability of the
Company to obtain the necessary financing and permitting to complete the development of the properties, and the
future profitable production from the disposition of the metals produced from the properties.
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Reclamation and decommissioning liabilities

The Company recognizes a liability for legal and constructive obligations relating to the reclamation of investments in
resource properties and PPE when those obligations arise from the acquisition, construction, development, or normal
operation of those assets. Such reclamation and decommissioning costs must be recognized at fair value, when a
reliable estimate of fair value can be made in the period in which it is incurred. The fair value is added to the carrying
value of the asset and amortized through profit or loss on a systematic basis over its estimated useful life. Fair value is
measured based on the Company’s best estimate of the asset’s cash outflows. Present value must be used where the
effect of the time value of money is material. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the
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JUNE 30, 2012

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd...)
Reclamation and decommissioning liabilities (cont'd...)

discount rate and for changes to the current market-based discount rate and the amount or timing of the underlying
cash flows needed to settle the obligation.

Royalty revenue recognition

Royalty revenue was recognized quarterly when management could reasonably estimate the royalty revenue from the
sale of gold and silver production from the Ruby Hill Mine, pursuant to the terms of the royalty agreement with
Barrick. Differences between estimates of royalty revenue and the actual amounts subsequently received were
adjusted and recorded in the period that the actual amounts were known. All prior period royalty revenue has been
reclassified to disposal gain and income from Ruby Hill royalty in discontinued operations.

Impairment of long-lived assets

At each financial reporting date the carrying amounts of the Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any indication of impairment exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment. The recoverable amount is the
greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use (which is the present value of future cash flows expected to be
realized from the asset). If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized through profit
or loss for the period. For the purposes of impairment testing, investments in resource properties are allocated to
cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates. For an asset that does not generate largely independent
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. When an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately through profit or
loss.

Assets related to discontinued operation

Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are

classified as assets related to discontinued operations. Immediately before classification as discontinued operations,

the assets are re-measured in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies. Thereafter, generally, the assets are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell and included in current assets as the sale

is expected within the next 12 months. Comparative figures for the discontinued assets and liabilities are reported as

non-current assets and liabilities in single line items on the statement of financial position for the prior year.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Company’s business that represents a separate major line of business
that has been disposed of or is held for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when
the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale. When an operation is classified as a discontinued
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operation, the comparative Statement of Comprehensive Income is restated as if the operation had been discontinued
from the start of the comparative period. Income (loss) from discontinued operations is reported in the statement after
net comprehensive income (loss) after taxes from continuing operations.

In the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, net cash flow provided by / (used in) discontinued operations is
presented separately after net cash flows provided by / (used in) continuing operations. Actual cash received from the
sale of assets, resource property expenditures and related operations are presented as discontinued operations within
investing activities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Stock-based compensation

The Company grants incentive stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees
and consultants. An individual is classified as an employee when the individual is employed directly by the Company
(for legal or tax purposes) or provides services similar to those performed by an employee.

The fair value of stock options is measured on the date of grant, using the Black Scholes option pricing model and is
recognized over the vesting period. Consideration paid for the shares on the exercise of stock options is credited to
capital stock. When vested options are forfeited or are not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognized in reserves is transferred to retained earnings.

In situations where equity instruments might be granted to non employees and some or all of the goods or services
received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically identified, they are measured at the fair value of the
share based payment. Otherwise, share based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income and comprehensive income after taxes available to
common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed similar to basic earnings per share except that the weighted average shares
outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed conversion of the convertible debentures,
exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that the
convertible debentures and the outstanding stock options and warrants were exercised and that proceeds from such
exercises were used to acquire common stock at the average market price during the reporting periods.

Income taxes

Income tax expense is comprised of current tax, deferred taxes and withholding taxes. Current tax and deferred tax
are recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
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Withholding taxes are those taxes paid to the Peruvian government at the rate of 4.1% on funds transferred out of the
country back to Canada from the profits of the Peruvian subsidiary.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets

are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realized.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Foreign currency translation

The Company considers the functional currency of all its operations to be the United States dollar. The functional
currency of each operation is determined after consideration of the primary economic environment of the operation.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies (currencies other than the functional currency of an operation) are
translated at the exchange rates on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the reporting date exchange rates.

Should other operations exist that have functional currencies other than the US dollar, revenue and expense items are
translated at average rates of exchange where there is a reasonable approximation of the exchange rate at the dates of
the transactions. Statement of financial position items are translated at closing exchange rates at the reporting
date. Exchange differences on the re-translation of the foreign currency entities, with a functional currency other than
the US dollar, at closing rates together with differences between the revenue and expenses translated at average and
closing rates, would be recorded in the currency translation adjustment reserve in shareholders’ equity.

Financial instruments
Financial assets:

Financial assets are classified into one of the following four categories based on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis. The Company’s
accounting policy for each category is as follows:

1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

A financial asset is classified at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such upon initial

recognition. Financial assets are designated as at FVTPL if the Company manages such investments and makes

purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Company’s risk management strategy. In
addition, all derivatives, including warrants of publicly traded companies are classified as FVTPL. Attributable

transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. FVTPL are measured at fair value at each reporting

period and changes are recognized in profit or loss.

ii) Held-to-maturity (“HTM”)

HTM assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the

Company’s management has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, determined by reference to

external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, then the financial asset is measured at the present value of

estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment, including impairment losses, are

recognized in profit or loss.
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1ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted on
an active market. Such assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any direct attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Financial instruments (cont'd...)
Financial assets (cont’d...)
iv) Available-for-sale (“AFS”)
AFS assets are non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories. They are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized directly in equity. Where a decline in the fair value of an AFS financial asset
constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from equity and recognized in profit
or loss.
The Company classifies its financial assets as follows:
Cash and equivalents and investments are classified as FVTPL.
Receivables and due from related party are classified as loans and receivables.
- Reclamation bonds are classified as HTM.

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities are classified into one of two categories: (i) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); or (ii)
Other financial liabilities.

1) Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

This category comprises derivatives, if any, or liabilities, acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing it in the near term. They are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in
fair value recognized in profit or loss.

ii) Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts to zero
estimated future cash payments over the expected life of the financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Company classifies its accounts payable, accrued severance and payroll costs, due to related parties, accrued
interest payable on convertible debentures, and convertible debentures as other financial liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets:
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Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the investments have
been impacted.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Financial instruments (cont'd...)

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d...)

For all financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
- default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets, with the exception of receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized through profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income is the change in the Company’s shareholders’ equity that results from transactions and other
events arising from anything other than the Company’s normal operations. It includes items that would not normally be
included in net earnings, such as unrealized gains and losses on AFS investments. Comprehensive income accounting
recommendations require certain gains or losses that would otherwise be recorded as part of net earnings to be
presented in other comprehensive income until it is considered appropriate to recognize such gains or losses in net
earnings.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (“OCI”) is presented as a separate component within shareholders’
equity. The presentation of accumulated OCI in the shareholders’ equity section of the consolidated statement of
financial position is not required because the Company has not reported OCI for the periods presented.

Non-controlling interest
In prior years, a non-controlling interest existed in a Peruvian subsidiary of the Company that represented Hochschild’s
share of the carrying value of the subsidiary that owned the Inmaculada property in Peru. This non-controlling interest

was eliminated in December 2010 when the Company sold an 11% interest in the subsidiary, thereby reducing its
current interest to less than a controlling interest (see Note 8).
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Future accounting pronouncements
Presentation of Financial Statements

In June 2011, the TASB issued IAS 1, Presentation of Items of OCI: Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. The amendments stipulate the presentation of net profit and OCI and also require the Company to group
items within OCI based on whether the items may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Amendments to IAS 1
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Company does not expect the adoption of the
amendments to this standard to have a material impact on its financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Future accounting pronouncements (cont'd...)
Consolidated Financial Statements

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements. This new standard defines the principle of
control and established control as the basis for determining which entities are included in consolidated financial
statements. The principle of control is based on three criteria: power over the investee; exposure to variable returns
from involvement in the investee; and the ability of the investor to use its power to affect the amount of its
returns. The standard requires control of an investee to be reassessed when the facts and circumstances indicate that
there have been changes to one or more of the criteria for determining control. This new standard supersedes the
requirements relating to consolidated financial statements in IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
(as amended in 2009) and SIC-12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 is effective for the Company
beginning on July 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard
to have a material impact on its financial statements.

Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments ("IFRS 9"), was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("IAS 39"). IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether
a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in
IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment
method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial
statements.

Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, was issued by the IASB in May 2011 and is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. Under IFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. Parties to a joint operation retain the rights and obligations to individual assets and
liabilities of the operation, while parties to a joint venture have rights to the net assets of the venture.

Any arrangement which is not structured through a separate entity, or is structured through a separate entity but such
separation is ineffective such that the parties to the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the
liabilities, will be classified as a joint operation. Joint operations shall be accounted for in a manner consistent with
jointly controlled assets and operations whereby the Company's contractual share of the arrangement's assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses are included in the consolidated financial statements. Any arrangement structured
through a separate vehicle that does effectively result in separation between the Company and the arrangement shall
be classified as a joint venture and accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the existing IFRS
standard, the Company has the option to account for its interests in joint ventures using proportionate consolidation or
equity accounting. The Company currently uses equity accounting for its joint arrangements. Accordingly, adoption of
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this standard is not expected to have any material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. This new standard requires

enhanced disclosures about an entity’s interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated
structured entities. IFRS 12 contains new disclosure requirements for the Company’s interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. Required disclosures aim to provide readers of the

financial statements with information to evaluate the nature of and risks associated with the Company’s interests in
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd...)
Future accounting pronouncements (cont'd...)
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (cont’d...)

other entities and the effects of those interests on the Company’s financial statements. IFRS 12 is effective for the
Company beginning after January 2013. It is expected that IFRS 12 will increase the current level of disclosure
related to the Company’s interests in other entities upon adoption.

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

In May 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, which are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with early adoption permitted. Amendments to IAS
28 provide additional guidance applicable to accounting for interests in joint ventures or associates when a portion of
an interest is classified as held-for-sale or when the Company ceases to have joint control or significant influence over
an associate or joint venture. When joint control or significant influence over an associate or joint venture ceases, the
Company will no longer be required to re-measure the investment at that date. When a portion of an interest in a joint
venture or associate is classified as held-for-sale, the portion not classified as held-for-sale shall be accounted for
using the equity method of accounting until the sale is completed, at which time the interest is reassessed for
prospective accounting treatment. The Company does not expect the amendments to IAS 28 to have a material impact
on the financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement

In May 2011, the IASB published IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, which is effective prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 13 replaces fair value measurement guidance contained in
individual IFRS guidance, providing a single source of fair value measurement guidance. The standard provides a
framework for measuring fair value and establishes new disclosure requirements to enable readers to assess the
methods and inputs used to develop fair value measurements and for recurring valuations that are subject to
measurement uncertainty, the effect of those measurements on the financial statements. The Company intends to adopt
IFRS 13 prospectively in its financial statements for its fiscal period beginning on July 1, 2013. The extent of the
impact of adoption of IFRS 13 has not yet been determined.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

In December 2011, the IASB published Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities and issued new
disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendments to IAS 32 clarify that an
entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off if that right is not contingent on a future event, and
enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity
and all counterparties. The amendments to IAS 32 also clarify when a settlement mechanism provides for net
settlement or gross settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The amendments to IFRS 7 contain new disclosure
requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position, or subject to
master netting arrangements or similar arrangements. The effective date for the amendments to IAS 32 is annual
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periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The effective date for the amendments to IFRS 7 is annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. These amendments are to be applied retrospectively. The Company does not
expect the amendments to IAS 32 to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

4. RE-PRESENTATION OF STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME IN ACCORDANCE WITH
IFRS

In August 2012, the Company reached an agreement with the Swiss Stock Exchange Regulation (the “SIX”) with
respect to the Company incorrectly adopting the presentation requirements of IFRS for its interim consolidated
financial statements for the quarters ended September 30, 2011, December 31, 2011 and March 31, 2012. The
Company agreed with the findings of the SIX and has amended its presentation of its Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income to comply with IFRS requirements. The presentation changes made by the Company do not
affect net income, earnings per share, operating, investing and financing cash flows or retained earnings as reported by
the Company.

The errors in presentation as identified by the SIX and agreed to by the Company are as follows:

(1) In accordance with IAS 1, the Statement of Comprehensive Income must include a line item that presents revenue
for the period. The Company incorrectly reported royalty revenue as royalty income and has agreed to correct this
misclassification.

(i1)) IAS 1 requires an entity to present an analysis of expenses using a classification based on either their nature or
function within the entity, whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. The Company presented
expenses as both nature and as their function (a “staggered” presentation). This Note 4 provides a reconciliation of
expenses previously reported to the presentation format required by IFRS.

(iii) In the notes to the financial statements, the Company disclosed that it held two investments which were valued
using level 1 inputs, when in fact the carrying value disclosed was historical cost which is not a level 1 input. This
disclosure error has been corrected.

The Company revised the presentation format on the Statement of Comprehensive Income to more fully comply with
IFRS, such that the Statement of Comprehensive Income is presented by nature of income or expense. The tables
below provide the detail for the previous presentation of the expenses.

Other income/(loss) includes gains/(losses) from investments, foreign exchange differences, gains from sale of
resource properties and interest income previously grouped in other items:

2012 2011
Foreign exchange (loss) $ (435226 ) $ (1,825,252 )
Unrealized gain (loss)/on investments (2,162,135 ) 1,259,424
Realized gain on sale of investment 1,135,855 -
Realized gain on sale of interest in resource property - 12,487,218
Interest income 283,071 285,174
Total other income/(loss) $ (1,178,435 ) $ 12,206,564
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

4, RE-PRESENTATION OF STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME IN ACCORDANCE WITH
IFRS (cont'd...)

Expenses:

2012 2011

Amortization and Depreciation are non-cash costs which include amortization of non-reimbursable costs
(previously shown as a deduction against income from associate), and depreciation of PPE (previously
classified separately in expenses):

Depreciation of PPE $ 55,517 $ 39,596
Amortization of non-reimbursable costs 721,468 721,467
Total amortization and depreciation $ 776,985 $ 761,063

Salaries and employee benefits include costs incurred by the Company in the following categories:

Corporate and administrative $ 2,281,472 $ 2,275,929
Monitoring costs 399,409 200,966
General exploration 339,408 4,582
Investor relations 367,083 367,078
Total salaries and employee benefits $ 3,387,372 $ 2,848,555

Administrative costs include all general and administrative expenses (G&A) incurred by the Company to
facilitate corporate activities and regional expenses not directly associated with specific resource properties or
operating mines:

Monitoring costs - associate $ 94,208 $ 974
General Exploration 273,156 19,713
Investor Relations 519,603 495,084
Office and General 1,043,832 505,301
Professional fees 1,115,630 768,827
Transfer agent and listing fees 180,589 164,952
Travel 147,810 143,549
Total administrative costs $ 3,374,828 $ 2,098,400

Write-downs include property and asset write-downs, write-offs and recoveries and reflect management’s
decision to expense previously capitalized costs:

Write-off of resource properties $ 688,336 $ 2,611,815
Recovery of resource properties - (763,863 )
Write-down of investments 51,230 286,150
Total write-downs $ 739,566 $ 2,134,102
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

5. CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

Cash and equivalents include:

June 30, June 30, July 1,
2012 2011 2010
Corporate bank accounts $ 23439267 $ 13,578,298 $ 481,124
Investment savings account (interest rates of 0.20% -
1.31%),
various maturities 34,020,910 43,175,581 23,494,999
Bank notes and other (interest rates of 0.19% - 1.20%),
various maturities 23,783,297 29,085,357 5,055,312

$ 81243474 § 85839236 $ 29,031,435
The Company invests in guaranteed investment certificates and certificates of deposit which may have maturity dates
greater than three months, but can be liquidated without penalty at the Company’s option after thirty days. Because of
the ability of the Company to liquidate these securities without interest or principal penalty, they are included in Bank
notes as equivalents. Cash held in Ecuador has been transferred to discontinued operations.

6. INVESTMENTS

The following tables set out the movement of the Company’s investments.

Carrying Carrying Carrying

Number of Value Value Value
Company Name Shares June 30,2012  June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010
Galena International Resources 208,333 $ 22,362 $ 42,669 $ 32,788
African Aura Mining* 98,125 -— - 95,467
Afferro Mining* 98,125 65,110 125,608 —
Aureus Mining* 98,125 84,260 100,486 -
Newstrike Capital 340,909 479,029 830,889 141,449
Colombian Mines Corp. 333,300 97,570 174,074 263,868
Continental Gold Limited 135,461 871,085 2,299,048 991,920
Sumatra Copper and Gold Limited 710,000 51,158 165,776 121,686
Santa Barbara Resources Limited (Note 12) 1,500,000 — 460,830 910,530
HMZ Metals Inc. 4,000,000 - - -
Oryx Mining and Exploration Limited 500,000 238,459 238,459 238,459
BuenaVista Gold plc 1,250,000 157,165 - -
International Northair Mines 1,786,000 490,997 - -
Caribbean Copper and Gold Corporation 1,200,000 286,150

$ 2557,195 $§ 4437839 $ 3,082,317
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*African Aura Mining (original investment) was reorganized into Afferro Mining and Aureus Mining in April 2011.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

6. INVESTMENTS (cont’d...)

June 30, June 30,

2012 2011

Beginning balance $ 4,437,839 $ 3,082,317
Acquisition of Santa Barbara Resources Limited shares — 148,054
Acquisition of BuenaVista Gold plc shares 157,165 -
Acquisition of International Northair Mines shares 490,997 —
Sale of Continental Gold Limited shares (166,601 ) -
Unrealized gain/(loss) 2,162,135 ) 1,259,424
Write down of investment (51,230 ) (286,150 )
Effect of foreign exchange (148,840 ) 234,194
Ending balance $ 2,557,195 $ 4,437,839

During the year, the Company sold 170,400 common shares of Continental Gold Limited for total cash proceeds of
$1,295,517 (Cdn$1,299,663) and paid $6,940 in commissions. The Company recorded a total gain of $1,135,855
(Cdn$1,139,490). In June 2012, the Company purchased 1,786,000 common shares and 893,000 warrants of
International Northair Mines for a cost of $490,997 (Cdn$500,080). Each warrant is exercisable to purchase an
additional common share of International Northair Mines at Cdn$0.40 until December 28, 2013, and as at June 30,
2012, the warrants had a value of $nil.

During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company wrote-off its investment in Santa Barbara Resources Limited. The
Company’s 1,500,000 shares of Santa Barbara Resource Limited carried a fair market value, before write-off, of
$51,230 (Cdn$52,500). The initial cost of the investment was Cdn$417,500. Santa Barbara Resource Limited has a
director in common with the Company.

Oryx Mining and Exploration Limited, and BuenaVista Gold plc are private companies and the carrying value is
estimated at cost.

1. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company designated two groups of assets or operations to be transferred
into discontinued operations. The first was the Ruby Hill royalty interest and the second included all property
interests, other assets and operations in Ecuador.

The Ruby Hill royalty was a 3% NSR royalty on the value of gold and silver produced from certain mining claims
owned by Barrick comprising the Ruby Hill mine, located in Nevada, USA. Although the Company was not actively
seeking buyers for this royalty interest, in early May 2012, the Company received an offer of $38 million for the
royalty. The Company evaluated this all-cash offer using risk-adjusted net present and future value methodologies and
accepted the offer. The transaction was concluded in late May 2012. With the sale, the Company reclassified all
royalty revenue and the recognized gain on the sale to discontinued operations for the current and comparative fiscal
years.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

1. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (cont’d...)

The Ecuadorian properties consist of the Rio Blanco late-stage gold and silver exploration property and the
earlier-stage Gaby gold property. The Company owns a 100% interest in the Rio Blanco concessions and variable
interests between 50% and 100% of the Gaby mineral concessions.

In early 2008, following the election of a new President, the Ecuadorian government adopted a Mining Mandate,
which suspended activities on all mineral concessions in Ecuador while a new Mining Law was being adopted.
Following the introduction of the new Mining Law and regulations in 2009, the Company commenced negotiations in
February 2011 for a production contract for the Rio Blanco property. The negotiations have been on-going for over 18
months without resolution of significant issues. As a result of the lack of progress in this critical negotiation,
increasing social and community risks and activism, a lack of clarity with respect to the components of the taxation
regime, concerns for the security of tenure for all concessions, and restrictive profit-sharing laws, in May 2012, the
Company appointed two investment advisors to assist the Company in implementing its strategy to maximize the
value of the resource properties in Ecuador, including their sale.

Because of this decision, the value of these properties and the decision of the Company to cease funding further
exploration activities on these properties, they were reclassified as discontinued operations and an impairment charge
of $53,143,265 was recognized for the Ecuadorian properties. The remaining carrying value of $39,976,344 represents
the Company’s best estimate of the aggregate recoverable value, less costs to sell, of the individual properties.

The fair market value for each property was determined, separately by the Company. Fair market value for Rio
Blanco was determined using variable metal price net present value (“NPV”) techniques with a discount applied to the
NPVs representing the increased political and social risk of doing business in Ecuador. The Gaby property, being at an
earlier stage of exploration does not lend itself to cash flow valuation techniques and therefore it was fair valued using
the “comparative market approach”. This method identified what similar properties in other high political risk
jurisdictions, including Ecuador, were valued at, or recently sold at, on a per ounce contained gold basis. A per ounce
value was then applied to Gaby and the resultant value was reduced further to account for the Ecuadorian political and
social risk factors.

The table below illustrates the components included in discontinued operations:

June 30, June 30, July 1,
Ecuador 2012 2011 2010
Assets
Cash and equivalents $ 194,564 $ 287,826 $ 67,909
Receivables 15,365 22,148 53,380
Prepaid expenses and deposits 12,346 3,196 10,090
PPE - other 245,355 253,244 263,444
Investment in associate 1,535 1,535 1,535
Resource properties 39,323,453 84,805,703 80,986,262
Reclamation bond 183,726 78,008 74,701

84



31

Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP
Total assets transferred to discontinued operations $ 39,976,344 $ 85,451,660 $

-Continued-

81,457,321

85



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (cont’d...)

June 30, June 30, July 1,
Ecuador 2012 2011 2010
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 73,927 $ 77,758 $ 142,925
Accrued severance and payroll costs 1,023,682 783,808 1,461,250
Due to related parties 5,541 11,000 -
Total liabilities transferred to discontinued
operations $ 1,103,150 $ 872,566 $ 1,604,175
Expenses
Write-down of Ecuador assets $ (53,238,265) $ -

June 30, June 30, July 1,
Ruby Hill Royalty 2012 2011 2010
Assets
Receivables $ — $ 1,698,095 $ 456,211
Prepaid expenses and deposits - 51,416 32,358
PPE - Ruby Hill - 11,402,904 13,409,126
Total assets transferred to discontinued operations ~ $ — $ 13,152,415 $ 13,897,695
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 113,152 $ - $ -
Deferred tax liability — - 600,000
Total liabilities transferred to discontinued
operations $ 113,152 $ - $ 600,000
Income and (Expenses)
Disposal gain $ 27,856,118 $ =
Revenue from royalty 3,660,281 5,303,592
Depletion of royalty income (1,291,364 ) (2,006,222 )
Income taxes - 600,000
Net proceeds tax (183,014 ) (265,180 )
Total disposal gain and net royalty income $ 30,042,021 $ 3,632,190
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
June 30, June 30,
2012 2011

Suyamarca Joint Venture - Pallancata

Balance, beginning of year $ 56,734,010 $ 36,666,973
Reinvestment of distributions — 10,000,000
Distributions from Joint Venture (46,000,000 ) (46,000,000 )
Equity income from Joint Venture 42,952,390 56,788,504
Amortization of non-reimbursable costs (721,468 ) (721,467 )

Additional non-reimbursable costs — -

52,964,932 56,734,010
Suyamarca Joint Venture - Inmaculada
Balance, beginning of year 63,399,532 =
Initial investment - 64,002,597
Recovery of costs - (603,065 )
Gain on carried interest in Inmaculada 16,782,196 -

80,181,728 63,399,532
Investment in associate balance, end of year $ 133,146,660 $ 120,133,542

On June 30, 2006, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with affiliated companies of Hochschild to
fast-track development, permitting and production at the Company’s Pallancata precious metals property in Peru. The
Company and Hochschild formed Suyamarca to own the Pallancata property and associated assets. The common
shares of Suyamarca are held 60% by Hochschild and 40% by the Company. Hochschild is the manager of
Suyamarca.

In December 2010, the Company agreed to sell 11% of its 51% ownership in the Inmaculada property, also located in
Peru, to its partner Hochschild for consideration of: $17,650,000 ($15 million cash was received in February 2011 and
an additional $2.65 million in August 2011); Hochschild’s participation in a $20 million private placement of the
Company’s common shares (completed in November 2010); and Hochschild’s commitment to fund 100% of the first
$100 million in expenditures for the feasibility, planning, development and construction of a mining operation at
Inmaculada. The Company recognized a gain of $12,487,218 on its sale of this 11% interest in Minera Quellopata
S.A.C. (*Quellopata”) the Peruvian joint venture company which held the Inmaculada property. Subsequently, the
parties have integrated the Quellopata net assets (principally Inmaculada) into Suyamarca.

Under the joint venture agreement between the Company and Hochschild, to purchase the additional 11% interest in
the Inmaculada project, Hochschild is required to contribute 100% of the first $100 million in capital funding before
the joint venture partners begin contributing to the project proportionately. To recognize the Company’s increased
value in the joint venture project as a result of Hochschild’s 100% contributions, an equity gain in carried interest is
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recorded in Investment in Associate and Shareholder Equity sections of the statement of financial position.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (cont’d...)

The table below discloses select financial information for Suyamarca on a 100% basis before any adjustments for
accounting policy differences. The Company’s share of Suyamarca is 40% for all periods reported.

Twelve months Twelve months Twelve months
($ 000's) Ended Ended Ended
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010

Net revenue (100%) $ 290,379 $ 338,125 $ 209,000
Net income before taxes (100%) 159,180 199,243 105,750
Net income after taxes (100%) 105,056 144,467 68,664
Total assets (100%) 251,660 234,554 128,362
Total liabilities (100%) 73,849 68,222 49,497
Total equity (100%) 177,811 166,332 78,865
Total liabilities and equity (100%) 251,660 234,554 128,362
Distributions (100%) 115,000 115,000 59,000
9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE)

Office Computer

equipment hardware Leasehold Total

and furniture  and software Vehicles improvements PPE
Cost
Balance at July 1, 2010 $ 66,889 $ 656,014 $ 173,037 $ 4,627 $ 900,567
Additions 7,983 16,337 73,097 19,394 116,811
Disposals — - — — —
Balance at June 30, 2011 $ 74872 $ 672,351 $ 246,134 $ 24,021 $ 1,017,378
Additions - 156,660 65,272 - 221,932
Disposals — - — — —
Balance at June 30, 2012 $ 74872 $ 829,011 $ 311406 $ 24,021 $ 1,239,310
Accumulated
depreciation
Balance at July 1, 2010 $ 55,056 $ 567,142 $ 64,093 $ 4,627 $ 690,918
Depreciation for the year 4,398 37,140 33,163 970 75,671
Disposals - - - - -
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Balance at June 30,2011 $ 59,454 $ 604,282 $ 97,256 $ 5,597 $ 766,589

Depreciation for the year 5,598 63,911 39,608 3,880 12,997

Disposals - - - - -

Balance at June 30,2012 $ 65,052 $ 668,193 $ 136,864 $ 9,477 $ 879,586
-Continued-
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE) (cont’d...)

Office Computer

equipment hardware and Leasehold Total

and furniture software Vehicles improvements PPE
Continued...
Carrying amounts
AtJuly 1, 2010 $ 11,833 § 88,872 $ 108944 §$§ - $ 209,649
At June 30, 2011 $ 15418 $ 68,069 $ 148,878 $ 18424 $ 250,789
At June 30, 2012 $ 9,820 $ 160,818 $ 174,542 § 14544 § 359,724

Ruby Hill Royalty Interest

The Company sold its 3% net smelter return royalty from the Ruby Hill Mine for $38 million in May 2012 to Royal

Gold, Inc. and recorded a gain on disposition of $27.9 million. This asset is reported as a discontinued operation
(Note 7).

10. INVESTMENT IN RESOURCE PROPERTIES, EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Balance, Balance,
2012 Beginning End
of Year Additions Write-off of Year
Goldfield Property, USA $ 41,269,848 $ 10,237,094 §$§ — $ 51,506,942
Converse Property, USA 14,500,960 5,665,154 — 20,166,114
Other Resource Properties 1,043,328 373,045 (688,336 ) 728,037
Total Resource Properties $ 56,814,136 $ 16,275,293 $ (688,336 ) $ 72,401,093

Transfer to

Balance, investment in Balance,
2011 Beginning associate End

of Year Additions and Write-off of Year
Inmaculada Property, Peru $ 71,935249 $ 4,633,580 $ (76,568,829) $§ —
Goldfield Property, USA 34,405,664 6,864,184 - 41,269,848
Converse Property, USA 13,147,253 1,353,707 — 14,500,960
Other Resource Properties 1,789,056 1,866,087 (2,611,815 ) 1,043,328
Total Resource Properties $ 121,277,222 $ 14,717,558 $ (79,180,644) $ 56,814,136
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

10. INVESTMENT IN RESOURCE PROPERTIES, EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (cont’d...)
Title to resource properties

Title to resource properties involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the validity of title to
certain claims. The Company has diligently investigated rights of ownership of all of the mineral concessions in which
it has an interest and, to the best of its knowledge, all agreements relating to such ownership rights are in good
standing. However, this should not be construed as a guarantee of title. Concessions may be subject to prior claims,
agreements or transfers and rights of ownership may be affected by undetected defects.

Ecuador mining concessions are subject to the Ecuador Mining Law, which became effective on January 29, 2009 and
its regulations, which were issued on November 4, 2009 (see Note 7).

Goldfield Project, Nevada, USA

With the acquisition of Metallic, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Goldfield gold property located in
Nevada, USA. This 100% interest in Goldfield was acquired by Metallic under a combination of agreements with
underlying owners and direct ownership by Metallic. Certain resource deposits on the property are subject to NSR
royalties ranging from zero to 5.0%, with certain buy-down provisions. The Company has estimated annual lease
payments of $145,000 to maintain the right to explore a portion of the property, pursuant to certain lease agreements.
On July 17, 2012, the Company released a positive independent feasibility study on the Gemfield deposit which
comprises a part of the Goldfield property holdings.

Converse Project, Nevada, USA

With the acquisition of Metallic, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Converse gold property located in
Nevada, USA. This 100% interest in Converse was acquired by Metallic under a combination of agreements with
underlying owners and direct ownership by Metallic. The property is subject to NSR royalties ranging from zero to
5.0%, with certain buy-down provisions. The Company has estimated annual lease payments of $100,000 to maintain
the right to explore a portion of the property, pursuant to certain lease agreements. On December 19, 2011, the
Company announced the results of a Preliminary Economic Assessment (scoping study) on the Converse property.

Other Resource Properties
Del Oro Project, Nevada

With the acquisition of Ventura in January 2010, the Company acquired an interest in the Del Oro gold project in
Nevada. Ventura entered into an option agreement (the “Agreement”) on November 14, 2007, with Columbus Gold
Corporation (“Columbus”) for Columbus’ 100% owned Del Oro property.

Under the terms of the original Agreement, Ventura had an option to earn an initial 51% interest in the property by
making a $50,000 payment in cash or common shares to Columbus (125,418 common shares of Ventura were issued,
currently representing 12,542 common shares of the Company) and by incurring $2.0 million in exploration
expenditures within a five year period.
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On July 26, 2010, an amendment to the Agreement was negotiated and signed with Columbus. $60,000 in cash was
paid to Columbus to extend the Agreement, of which $40,000 was applied to the $200,000 in required work
expenditures under the Agreement. Additional work expenditures required prior to December 31, 2010 were $100,000
(incurred) and another $25,000 was paid by June 30, 2011, to fulfill the required $200,000 in work expenditures. The
Company now has until November 14, 2013, to incur the remaining $1.8 million in work expenditures in order to earn
an initial 51% interest in the Property.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

11. RECLAMATION BONDS

In the United States, the Company has deposits in place with the State of Nevada totalling $185,100 (June 30, 2011 -
$135,100; July 1, 2010 — $138,000) as security for reclamation bonds.

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s related parties with whom the Company had transactions with during the year, are as follows:

Related Parties Relation with the Company Nature of Transaction

Suyamarca Associate Reimbursement of costs /
Payment of cash distribution

Jorge Paz - Paz Horowitz  Director Legal consulting
Inc.

Rod McKeen - Axium Director Legal consulting
Law Corp.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:

a) Paid or accrued legal fees of $238,069 (2011 - $308,146) for services provided by firms in which two directors of
the Company are partners or principals. The Company expensed $150,948 (2011 - $156,118) of these fees and the
remainder was capitalized. As at June 30, 2012, the accounts payable to these firms totalled $23,190 (June 30,
2011 - $73,079), of which $5,541 (June 30, 2011 - $11,000) has been transferred to discontinued operations (Note
7).

b) At June 30, 2012, the Company held 1,500,000 (2011 - 1,500,000) common shares of Santa Barbara Resources
Limited (which has a director, Rod McKeen, in common with the Company).

¢) At June 30, 2012, cash distributions of $6,000,000 and cost reimbursements totalling $210,377 (2011 - $557,367)
were due from Suyamarca. During the year, the Company recorded a total of $848,147 (2011 - $681,308) as
recovery of costs from Suyamarca. The Company is a 40% shareholder of Suyamarca.

d) Paid or accrued directors’ fees of $289,241 (2011 - $142,292). During the year, the Company granted 200,000
(2011 — nil) options to its directors for which it recorded stock-based compensation of $83,103 (2011 - $nil).

The summary of amounts payable to and from related parties is as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended As at
June 30, 2012  June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010

Accounts receivable due from Suyamarca for cost
reimbursements $ 210,377 $ 557367 $ -
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Accounts receivable for cash distributions from Suyamarca* 6,000,000 —
Accounts payable to related parties for fees (17,649 ) (62,079 )

*A cash distribution to the Company totaling $6 million was received in July 2012.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cont’d...)

The total remuneration and benefits recorded on an accrual basis by the Company to its key executives is as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011
Short-term remuneration $ 1,100,000 $ 846,500
Stock-based compensation 182,968 178,796
Total remuneration $ 1,282,968 $ 1,025,296

The key executives with the power and responsibility directly or indirectly, to plan, direct and control the operations
of the Company are its President and CEO, CFO and VP Corporate Development.

13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On May 17, 2012, the Company retired in cash at maturity $39,577,883 principal amount of convertible debentures
(“Debentures”). The Debentures bore interest at an annual rate of 5.50%, payable semi-annually on May 31 and
November 30 of each year, commencing November 30, 2006 through May 19, 2012, when they matured. Using an
acceptable pricing model, the Debentures were segregated based on the respective fair values of their debt and equity
components on the date the Debentures were issued. The Debentures were originally segregated into a debt
component of $30,766,089 and an equity component of $4,945,008. The debt component, representing the value
allocated to the liability at inception, was initially recorded as a long-term liability, and at June 30, 2011, became a
current liability. The remaining component, representing the value ascribed to the holders' option to convert the
principal amount into common shares, which was previously classified in shareholders' equity as "Equity component
of convertible debentures”, has been reversed through retained earnings. Over the term of the debt obligation, the debt
component was accreted to the face value of the Debentures by the recording of additional interest expense.

Prior to the maturing of the Debentures in May 2012, Cdn$58,000 principal amount of debentures was converted into
8,429 common shares of the Company.

Convertible Debentures June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 July 1, 2010
Principal amount $ - $ 35,692,527 $ 35,711,097
Effect of foreign exchange rate - 5,251,661 2,371,155
Unamortized accreted amount — - (1,039,969 )
Deferred finance costs, net - - (395,740 )
Net carrying amount $ - $ 40,944,188 $ 36,646,543
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14. CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK OPTIONS

a) Authorized

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value.
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

14. CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK OPTIONS (cont’d...)
b) Issuances

During the year ended June 30, 2012, 278,000 (2011 - 1,396,620) common shares were issued for cash proceeds
totaling $1,067,518 (2011 - $5,395,893) pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options and $526,481 (2011 -
$2,675,574) was allocated to capital stock from reserves. During the year ended June 30, 2012, 5,813 (2011 - 2,616)
common shares were issued pursuant to conversion of convertible debentures, for a total of $40,425 (Cdn$40,000)
(2011 - $18,570 (Cdn$18,000)) in converted debentures.

During the year ended June 30, 2011, 3,655,746 shares were issued to Hochschild for a private placement of
$20,000,000 in connection with Hochschild purchasing the additional 11% interest in the Inmaculada project.

¢) Share buyback program

On October 17, 2011, the Company commenced a normal course issuer bid (or share repurchase program) to purchase,
through the market on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”), a maximum of 3,000,000 of its common shares
(“‘Shares”), representing approximately 2.5% of the Company’s 120,457,576 issued and outstanding Shares as at October
17,2011. Following the end of each subsequent quarter, all Shares repurchased were cancelled.

As of June 30, 2012, a total of 3,000,000 shares had been repurchased by the Company on the TSX through the
normal course issuer bid at an average price of Cdn$5.70 per share, for a total cost of Cdn$17,103,740 ($16,923,880).

This completed the share buyback program. All Shares were cancelled during the year. Retained earnings were
reduced by $10,813,665 representing the excess of the purchase price of the Shares over their average carrying value.

d) Stock options

The Company has an incentive stock option plan in place under the rules of the TSX pursuant to which it is authorized
to grant options to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants, enabling them to acquire up to a
maximum of 12,500,000 common shares of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is not less
than the market price of the Company's shares on the date of grant. The options can be granted for a maximum term
of 10 years and vest as determined by the board of directors.

Stock option transactions and the number of stock options outstanding are summarized as follows:

Weighted Average

Number of Exercise

Options Price ($Cdn)
Balance, July 1, 2010 4,046,020 $ 4.34
Granted 280,000 7.00
Exercised (1,396,620 ) 3.87
Expired / forfeited (130,000 ) 5.31
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Balance, June 30, 2011

Granted

Exercised

Expired / forfeited

Balance outstanding at June 30, 2012

Options exercisable, June 30, 2012*
* 1,356,500 options were not-vested as at June 30, 2012.

39

2,799,400

1,311,500
(278,000
(7,500
3,825,400

2,468,900

$

4.80

5.81

3.84
5.28

5.21

4.86
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JUNE 30, 2012

14. CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK OPTIONS (cont’d...)
The weighted average fair value of options granted during fiscal year 2012 was Cdn$1.52 (2011 — Cdn$2.29).

The following stock options were outstanding at June 30, 2012:

Exercise Number
Expiry date Price ($Cdn) of Options
July 24, 2012 3.65 5,000
May 22, 2013 1.80 50,000
February 11, 2014 4.58 250,000
March 27, 2014 2.80 47,500
February 1, 2015 4.00 257,500
December 6, 2015 4.48 50,000
October 4, 2016 4.70 50,000
November 6, 2016 5.25 100,000
February 26, 2017 5.78 770,000
November 2, 2017 5.62 25,000
February 23, 2019 3.73 483,900
May 20, 2020 4.00 150,000
November 30, 2020 6.41 50,000
January 10, 2021 7.04 190,000
May 12, 2021 7.55 40,000
November 29, 2021 5.86 150,000
January 30, 2022 5.80 1,156,500

3,825,400

e) Stock-based compensation

The total stock-based compensation recognized under the fair value method for options granted in 2012 was
$1,994,037 (2011 - $638,738), using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Together with amortization of options
awarded in previous periods, the Company expensed a total of $627,506 (2011 - $662,768) during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2012.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for the Black-Scholes valuation of stock options granted:

2012 2011
Risk-free interest rate 1.96% 3.16%
Expected life of options 6.1 years 6.1 years
Annualized volatility 25.47% 25.28%
Dividend 0% 0%
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The Company has no share purchase warrants outstanding.
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14. CAPITAL STOCK AND STOCK OPTIONS (cont’d...)

f) Earnings per share

Earnings per share, calculated on a basic and diluted basis for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, is as follows:
Year Ended Year Ended

June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011
Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic $ 023 $ 048

Diluted $ 023 $ 048
Earnings per share from discontinued operations

Basic $ (0.19 ) $ 0.03

Diluted $ (0.19 ) $ 0.03
Earnings per share - total

Basic $ 004 $ 051

Diluted $ 004 $ 051
Net income

Net earnings available to common shareholders - basic and diluted $ 4,791,634 $ 60,321,210
Weighted average shares outstanding

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 119,726,674 118,222,472
Dilutive securities
Stock options 571,672 761,782
Convertible debentures - -
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 120,298,346 118,984,254
Weighted average shares excluded
Stock options 280,000 230,000
Convertible debentures — 5,808,804
15. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it
can continue to provide adequate returns to shareholders, benefits to other stakeholders, and to have sufficient funds
on hand to meet the Company’s exploration and development plans.

The Company considers its shareholders’ equity to be its capital. The Company manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets

of the Company. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares through

private or public placements, repurchase shares, sell assets, incur debt, or pay dividends to shareholders.

Actual funding requirements may vary from those planned due to a number of factors, including the progress of

exploration and development activities. Due to the cyclical nature of the industry, there is no guarantee that when the
Company needs to raise capital, there will be funds available at that time.
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and likelihood of this exposure.
These risks include liquidity risk, credit risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. Where material, these risks

are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors of the Company.
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT (cont’d...)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is managed by the Company by maintaining sufficient cash balances to meet current working capital

requirements which included the retirement of the convertible debentures in cash on May 19, 2012 and other

expenditures in the ordinary course of business. The Company holds a 40% interest in a mine in production in Peru

but may require additional funding in order to continue other exploration and development programs as they arise, for

example construction funding at the Inmaculada property in Peru. Despite previous success in acquiring this funding,

there is no guarantee of obtaining future funding. The Company’s cash and equivalents are invested in business
accounts with quality financial institutions primarily in Canada, U.S. and Peru and are available on demand for the

Company’s programs. The Company believes it has sufficient capital resources to meet its planned operational and
administrative expenses for the next fiscal year.

Credit risk

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its liquid financial assets and Suyamarca’s concentrate sales
contracts. Credit risk may arise from the non-performance by counterparties of contractual financial obligations and
those entities purchasing Suyamarca’s metal concentrates. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk on liquid
assets by maintaining its cash, equivalents and reclamation bonds with high-credit quality financial institutions.
Suyamarca’s concentrate sales and receivables are not considered a material credit risk as its buyers are large
well-established smelter companies. The Company’s receivables are not considered a material credit risk as they are
mainly due from Suyamarca. Investments currently include thirteen junior exploration companies (eleven public and
two private) and these securities remain subject to market fluctuations, market liquidity, changing market values and
illiquidity issues for the private companies.

Currency risk

The Company’s funds are held in US, Peruvian and Canadian currencies. Its operations are in the United States,
Ecuador and Peru. Foreign exchange or currency risk results from multiple currency transactions and the Company’s
financial statements which are reported in US dollars.

The Company does not currently use derivative instruments to reduce its currency risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on fluctuations related to cash and equivalents, investments and

accounts payable which are denominated in Canadian dollars. As at June 30, 2012, net financial assets totaling

$18,325,319 were held in Canadian dollars.

Based on the above net exposure as at June 30, 2012, and assuming all other variables remain constant, a 10%

depreciation or appreciation of the US dollar against the Canadian dollar would result in an increase/decrease of
approximately $1,808,686 in the Company’s net income.
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The Company is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk in Peru as the Company’s net monetary assets
denominated in Peruvian Soles are minimal. Ecuador uses the US dollar as its functional currency and Ecuador’s
operations are funded on an “as-needed” basis.

Interest rate risk
The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from the interest rate impact on its cash and equivalents. Cash and
equivalents have been invested in short-term investments to maintain liquidity and preserve capital. There is minimal

risk that the Company would recognize any loss as a result of the decrease in the fair value of any banker’s acceptance
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT (cont’d...)

notes, guaranteed investment certificates, money market funds or term deposits included in cash equivalents as they
are held with large high-quality credit financial institutions, primarily in Canada, USA and Peru.

Price risk

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices reported as investments and the commodities used
in, or sold by, its mining operation in Peru. Equity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on the
Company's earnings due to movements in individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock
market. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to
commodity price movements and volatilities and also a change in revenue and income due to concentrate sales having
forward quotational period price fixing (typically priced one to two months after arrival at the smelter). The Company
closely monitors commodity prices of precious metals, individual equity movements, and the stock market to
determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.

The Company's investments are subject to fair value fluctuations arising from changes in the equity markets. The
Company currently does not use derivatives to hedge its commodity price risk.

Financial assets

The fair value of cash and equivalents and investments are based on Level 1 (quoted prices readily and regularly
available) inputs of the fair value hierarchy, except for privately held investments (Oryx Mining and Exploration Ltd.
and BuenaVista Gold plc) which are carried at historical cost.

The estimated fair value of receivables, reclamation bonds and due from related party are equal to their carrying
values due to their short term nature. The exposure of the Company’s financial assets to interest rate and currency risk
at June 30, 2012 is as follows:

Canadian Peruvian
Stated in US Dollars Level Dollar US Dollar Soles Other Total
Cash and equivalents
Floating rate financial
assets 1 $ 16,207,924 $§ 47,102,005 $ 5,048 $ - $ 63,314,977
Fixed rate financial
assets 1 - 17,928,497 - - 17,928,497
Subtotal 16,207,924 65,030,502 5,048 - 81,243,474
Other financial assets
Investments — tradeable* 1 2,110,414 - - 51,158 2,161,572
Investments - private 3 238,458 — — 157,165 395,623
Receivables 65,938 3,200 9,967 - 79,105
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Due from related party - 6,210,377 = - 6,210,377
Reclamation bonds — 185,100 - - 185,100
Total $ 18,622,734 $ 71,429,179 $ 15,015 $ 208,323 $ 90,275,251

*The shares and warrants of International Northair Mines were restricted from trading as at June 30, 2012.
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT (cont’d...)

Financial liabilities

The estimated fair value of all of the Company’s financial liabilities is equal to their carrying values due to their short-
term nature. The exposure of the Company’s financial liabilities to interest rate and currency risk at June 30, 2012, is as

follows:
Canadian Peruvian
Stated in US Dollars Dollar US Dollar Soles
Accounts payable $286,296 $1,061,735 $49,430
Due to related parties 11,119 6,530 -
Accrued severance and payroll costs - 555,348 181,152
Total $297.,415 $1,623,613 $230,582
17. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

Total
$1,397,461

17,649

736,500

$2,151,610

The Company primarily operates in one reportable operating segment, being the acquisition, exploration, development

and exploitation of resource properties located in North and South America. Geographic information is as follows:

Investment in

Property, plant resource

and equipment properties
June 30, 2012
USA $ 359,724 $ 72,207,683
Ecuador — -
Peru - 193,410

$ 359,724 $ 72,401,093
June 30, 2011
USA $ 250,789 $ 56,110,151
Ecuador - -
Peru — 703,985

$ 250,789 $ 56,814,136
July 1, 2010
USA $ 209,649 $ 47,691,548
Ecuador — —
Peru - 73,585,674

Investment
1n associate

133,146,660

133,146,660

120,133,542

120,133,542

36,666,973

Discontinued
operations

39,976,344

39,976,344

13,152,415
85,451,660

98,604,075

13,897,695
81,457,321
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$ 209,649 $ 121,277,222 $ 36,606973 $

95,355,016
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17. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (cont’d...)

Earnings and equity income are summarized as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011
Continuing operations
Equity income from associate - Peru $ 42,952,390 $ 56,788,504
Discontinued operations
Gain and income from mine royalty - USA $ 30,042,021 $ 3,632,190
Write-down of discontinued operations — Ecuador resource
properties (53,238,265 ) -
18. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS

During the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company paid income taxes of $2,292,474 (2011 - $nil).
Significant non-cash transactions for the Company for the year ended June 30, 2012, were as follows:

a) Included in investment in resource properties are the following amounts: $57,192 which relates to amortization of
other PPE and $1,450,154, which relates to accounts payable and accrued severance and payroll costs.

b) The Company allocated $526,481 for incentive stock options exercised during the year to capital stock from

reserves.

¢) The Company charged $10,813,665 to retained earnings for repurchased shares cancelled in the year and
$4,945,008 for equity component of convertible debentures.

d) The Company recorded $16,782,196 to equity gain on carried interest related to its investment in Suyamarca and
increased the investment in associate based on Hochschild’s 100% contribution for the costs of the Inmaculada

project. (Note 8)

e) The Company accrued a $6 million distribution from Suyamarca which was received in July 2012 and decreased

its investment in associate. (See Note 22)
Significant non-cash transactions for the Company for the year ended June 30, 2011, were as follows:

a) Included in investment in resource properties are the following amounts: $nil which relates to amortization of
property and equipment and $938,089, which relates to accounts payable and accrued severance payroll costs and

$557,367, which relates to resource property reimbursements.

112



b)

)

d)

45

Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

The Company allocated $2,675,574 for incentive stock options exercised during the year to capital stock from
reserves.

The Company recorded a disposition of an 11% ownership interest in Inmaculada for a gain of $12,487,218 and
recorded the remaining investment as an equity investment with a balance of $76,568,829.

The Company allocated $312,875 from reserves to retained earnings for incentive stock options that were
forfeited during the year.
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19. INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:

2012 2011
Net income for the year $ 30,440,352 $ 56,689,020
Expected income tax (recovery) $ 7,838,000 $ 16,423,000
Change in statutory, foreign tax, foreign exchange rates and other (1,065,000 ) 1,329,000
Permanent differences (4,061,000 ) (24,302,000)
Withholding tax on dividends received 2,292,474 -
Adjustment to prior years provision versus statutory tax returns 136,000 —
Change in deductible temporary differences and other (2,688,000 ) 5,950,000
Total income tax expense (recovery) $ 2,452,474 $ (600,000 )
Current income tax $ 2,292 474 $ -
Deferred tax expense (recovery) $ 160,000 $ (600,000 )

The Canadian income tax rate declined during the year due to changes in the law that reduced corporate income tax
rates in Canada.

The significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

2012 2011
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Investment in resource properties $ (13,978,000) $ (12,690,000)
Investments (7,000 ) (300,000 )
Non-capital losses available for future periods 5,825,000 4,990,000
Net deferred tax liability $ (8,160,000 ) $ (8,000,000 )

The significant components of the Company’s unrecognized temporary differences and unused tax losses are as
follows:

Expiry
Date
Range 2012 2011
Investment in resource properties $ 8,616,000 $ 800,000
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Property, plant and equipment
Share issuance costs

Non-capital losses available for future periods

No expiry

date

No expiry

date 26,000 -

2033 -

2035 82,000 200,000
2014 -

2032 21,441,000 49,700,000

Deferred tax liabilities of $33 million (2011 - $37 million) have not been recognized on the undistributed earnings of
an associate (Suyamarca) as the timing of distribution for the earnings is within the Company’s control and it is
probable that the earnings may be reinvested in the foreseeable future.

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.
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20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS

As outlined in Note 2, Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation, the Company adopted IFRS on July 1,
2011, with a transition date of July 1, 2010 (“Transition Date”). Under IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards’, IFRS is applied retrospectively at the transition date with all adjustments to assets and
liabilities as stated under Canadian GAAP taken to retained earnings unless certain exemptions are applied. IFRS
provides for certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions for first time-IFRS adopters.

Initial elections upon adoption

Set forth below are the IFRS 1 applicable exemptions and exceptions applied in the conversion from Canadian GAAP
to IFRS.

(1) IFRS exemption options

(1) Business combinations

IFRS 1 provides the option to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively or prospectively from the
Transition Date. The retrospective basis would require restatement of all business combinations that occurred prior to
the Transition Date. The Company elected not to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 to business combinations that occurred
prior to its Transition Date and such business combinations have not been restated.

(i1) Share-based payments

IFRS 1 permits the application of IFRS 2 Share Based Payments only to equity instruments granted after November 7,
2002, that had not vested by the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has applied this exemption and will apply
IFRS 2 for equity instruments granted after November 7, 2002, that had not vested by July 1, 2010.

(ii1) Borrowing costs

IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” requires capitalization of eligible borrowing costs. Historically, the borrowing costs
associated with loans were expensed as incurred. A first-time adopter may elect to apply an IFRS 1 transitional
provision, and thereby be exempt from having to apply the standard to past transactions. The Company has applied
this exemption and will apply IAS 23 on a prospective basis.

(iv) Non-controlling interests

A first-time adopter of IFRS shall apply certain non-controlling interest-related requirements of IAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements prospectively from the date of transition to IFRS.

(2) IFRS mandatory exceptions

(1) Estimates
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In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of transition to IFRS must be consistent with
estimates made for the same date under previous Canadian GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those
estimates were in error. The Company’s IFRS estimates as of July 1, 2010, are consistent with its Canadian GAAP
estimates for the same date.

(3) Reconciliations
The adoption of IFRS has resulted in changes to the Company’s reported financial position and results of

comprehensive income.
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20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (cont’d...)
(3) Reconciliations (cont’d...)

The changes made to the statements of financial position and statements of comprehensive income have resulted in the
reclassification of certain amounts on the statements of cash flows. There have been no changes to the net cash flows.
IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows requires that cash flows relating to finance costs/interest be separately disclosed
within the statement classifications. Under Canadian GAAP, these amounts were previously disclosed as a note to the
statement of cash flows. These amounts have been separately disclosed under ‘operating’ and ‘financing activities’ within
the statement of cash flows under IFRS. IAS 7 allows a company to disclose its Statement of Cash Flows in a manner
which is most informative to readers. As such the cash distributions from Suyamarca have been reclassified from
investing activities to operating activities.

In order to allow the users of the financial statements to better understand the changes in accounting policies, the
financial statements previously presented under Canadian GAAP have been reconciled to IFRS. For a description of
the changes in accounting policy, see the discussion in notes to the IFRS Reconciliations below.

Balance of page intentionally left blank
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20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (cont’d...)1

The July 1, 2010 (Transition date to IFRS) Canadian GAAP consolidated statement of financial position has been
reconciled to IFRS as follows:

June 30, 2010 Effect of IFRS July 1, 2010
Cdn GAAP transition IFRS Notes
ASSETS
Current
Cash and equivalents $ 29031435 $ - $ 29,031,435
Receivables 3,682,704 - 3,682,704
Prepaid expenses and deposits 116,324 = 116,324
Investments 3,082,317 - 3,082,317
Current assets 35,912,780 - 35,912,780
Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 209,649 - 209,649
Investment in associate 36,666,973 - 36,666,973
Investment in resource properties 144,477,222 (23,200,000) 121,277,222 A
Reclamation bonds 138,000 - 138,000
Discontinued operations - mine royalty (Note
7) 13,897,695 - 13,897,695
Discontinued operations - Ecuador resource
properties (Note 7) 81,457,321 - 81,457,321
Non-current assets 276,846,860 (23,200,000) 253,646,860
Total assets $ 312,759,640 $ (23,200,000) $ 289,559,640
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'
EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable $ 2,602,807 $ - $ 2,602,807
Accrued severance and payroll costs 1,226,778 - 1,226,778
Due to related parties 11,819 - 11,819
Accrued interest payable on convertible
debentures 174,869 - 174,869
Discontinued operations - Ecuador resource
properties (Note 7) 1,604,175 - 1,604,175
Current liabilities 5,620,448 - 5,620,448
Non-current
Convertible debentures 36,646,543 - 36,646,543
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Deferred income tax liability
Discontinued operations — mine royalty (Note
7)

Non-current liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Capital stock
Reserves
Equity component of convertible debentures

Retained earnings (deficit)

Capital and reserves attributable to the
shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interest in subsidiary

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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38,200,000
600,000
75,446,543
217,204,514
6,371,244
4,945,008
(3,604,217 )
224,916,549
6,776,100

312,759,640 $

(30,200,000)

(30,200,000)

729,268

6,270,732

7,000,000

(23,200,000) $

8,000,000 A&B
600,000

45,246,543
217,204,514
7,100,512 CD
4,945,008

2,666,515 B,C&D
231,916,549
6,776,100

289,559,640
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (cont’d...)

The June 30, 2011 Canadian GAAP consolidated statement of financial position has been reconciled to IFRS as
follows:

June 30, 2011 Effect of IFRS June 30, 2011

Cdn GAAP transition IFRS Notes

ASSETS

Current
Cash and equivalents $ 85839236 $ - $ 85,839,236
Receivables 2,847,666 - 2,847,666
Due from related party 557,367 = 557,367
Prepaid expenses and deposits 81,357 - 81,357
Investments 4,437,839 - 4,437,839

Current assets 93,763,465 - 93,763,465

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 250,789 = 250,789
Investment in associate 144,096,864 (23,963,322) 120,133,542 A&G
Investment in resource properties 56,814,136 - 56,814,136
Reclamation bonds 135,100 - 135,100
Discontinued operations - mine royalty

(Note 7) 13,152,415 = 13,152,415 F
Discontinued operations - Ecuador resource

properties (Note 7) 85,451,660 - 85,451,660

Non-current assets 299,900,964 (23,963,322) 275,937,642

Total assets $ 393,664,429 $ (23,963,322) $ 369,701,107

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'

EQUITY

Current
Accounts payable $ 700,771 $§ - $ 700,771
Accrued severance and payroll costs 652,708 - 652,708
Due to related parties 62,079 - 62,079
Accrued interest payable on convertible

debentures 187,661 - 187,661
Convertible debentures 40,944,188 - 40,944,188
Discontinued operations - Ecuador resource

properties (Note 7) 872,566 - 872,566
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Current liabilities
Non-current
Deferred income tax liability
Non-current liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Capital stock
Reserves
Equity component of convertible debentures
Retained earnings

Capital and reserves attributable to the
shareholders of the Company

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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$

43,419,973

45,300,000
45,300,000

245,260,695
4,403,491
4,945,008
50,335,262

304,944,456

393,664,429 $

(37,300,000)
(37,300,000)

371,340

12,965,338

13,336,678

(23,963,322) $

43,419,973

8,000,000
8,000,000

245,260,695
4,774,831
4,945,008
63,300,600
318,281,134

369,701,107

A&B

C&D

B.C.D&G
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (cont’d...)

The Canadian GAAP consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended June 30, 2011 has been
reconciled to IFRS as follows:

June 30,
2011 Effect of IFRS June 30,
Cdn GAAP transition 2011 IFRS Notes

Income from associate $ 55,551,826 $ 1,236,678 $ 56,788,504 G
Other income/(loss) 12,206,564 - 12,206,564 E

Total income 67,758,390 1,236,678 68,995,068
Expenses
Amortization (761,063 ) = (761,063 )

Salaries and employee benefits (2,848,555 ) - (2,848,555 )

Administrative costs (2,098,400 ) - (2,098,400 )
Stock-based compensation (707,821 ) 45,053 (662,768 ) C
Financing expense (3,801,160 ) - (3,801,160 )
Write-downs (2,134,102 ) - (2,134,102 )

Total expenses (12,351,101) 45,053 (12,306,048)
Income from continuing operations before taxes 55,407,289 1,281,731 56,689,020
Income taxes (5,100,000 ) 5,100,000 - B
Net income from continuing operations after taxes 50,307,289 6,381,731 56,689,020

Discontinued operations net of income taxes
Disposal gain and income from mine royalty 3,632,190 = 3,632,190
Write-down of discontinued operations - - -
Income/(loss) from discontinued
operations 3,632,190 - 3,632,190

Net income and comprehensive income after taxes $  53,939.479 $ 6,381,731 $ 60,321,210
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in United States dollars)
JUNE 30, 2012

20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (cont’d...)
A) Income taxes — Ventura Gold Corp. Acquisition

In January 2010, the Company acquired Ventura Gold Corp. On acquisition, the Company recorded the acquisition as
an asset acquisition and recognized a deferred tax liability of $23,200,000 in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Under
IAS 12 Income Taxes, the deferred tax liability is not recognized, either on acquisition or subsequently. This
accounting policy change resulted in a reduction of the deferred tax liability on transition to IFRS and a corresponding
decrease in the carrying value of the related investment in resource property.

B) Income taxes — Investment in associate

Additionally, IAS 12 Income Taxes states deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences,
except in a few specific circumstances. One of these circumstances is when the deferred tax liability arises from
investments in associates, where the parent investor is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Under Canadian
GAAP, the Company recorded a deferred tax liability; however the temporary difference is not expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future. This accounting policy change resulted in a reduction on transition of the $7 million deferred
tax liability recorded related to Suyamarca and a corresponding increase in retained earnings, as at July 1, 2010.
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, an additional $5.1 million of deferred tax expense relating to the earnings
of Suyamarca was reversed with a corresponding increase in retained earnings. The total deferred tax adjustment
related to Suyamarca’s equity earnings totaled $12.1 million.

C) Stock-based Compensation Valuation

The Company modified its accounting for stock-based compensation to conform to the guidance in IFRS 2
Share-Based Payments.

Under Canadian GAAP, the fair value of stock-based awards/options with graded (periodic) vesting are calculated as
one grant and the resulting fair value is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Forfeitures or
expiry of stock-based awards/options are recognized as they occur.

Under IFRS, a fair value measurement is required for each vesting instalment within the option grant. Each instalment
must be valued separately, based on assumptions determined from historical data, and recognized as compensation
expense over each instalment’s individual vesting period. Forfeiture estimates are recognized in the period they are
estimated and are revised for actual forfeitures in subsequent periods. Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge of
$42,460 to reserves with a corresponding adjustment to deficit at July 1, 2010. At June 30, 2011, the Company
recorded a charge of $45,053 to reserves and a corresponding adjustment to stock-based compensation.

D) Reclassification of Reserves

The Company reclassified to retained earnings from reserves the fair value of stock options that were forfeited or that
expired unexercised of: $771,728 at July 1, 2010 and $458,853 at June 30, 2011.
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E) Reclassification of Non-controlling Interest
Under IFRS, non-controlling interest is classified as a separate component of equity, whereas under Canadian GAAP,

it was classified as another item outside of equity. As a result, earnings attributable to the non-controlling interest are
shown on the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

52

125



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

JUNE 30, 2012

20. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (cont’d...)

F) Reclassification of Investment in Ruby Hill Royalty
Under IFRS, the Company’s investment in the Ruby Hill royalty was originally classified as a category of PPE. There
were no changes in its carrying value as a result of this reclassification. With the sale of the royalty interest in May
2012, all revenues, assets, liabilities and gains/losses have been transferred to discontinued operations.

G) Investment in associate

Suyamarca’s accounting policy for handling exploration costs is not consistent with the Company’s policy. IFRS
requires consistency and the adjustment shown reflects exploration costs expensed in Suyamarca that would be
capitalized by the Company, net of the applicable depreciation calculated on a units-of-production basis.

21. COMMITMENTS

The Company has operating lease agreements for office and warehouse space. These agreements require the Company
to make the following lease payments on a fiscal year basis:

Office/ Warehouse Lease Commitments

by Country USA Peru Ecuador Total
2013 $ 183,143 § 40,320 $ 23,756 $ 247219
2014 98,898 40,320 - 139,218
2015 80,964 23,520 - 104,484
2016 57,723 - - 57,723
Total by Country $ 420,728 § 104,160 § 23,756 $ 548,644
22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the year ended June 30, 2012:

a) InJuly 2012, the Company received a cash distribution of $6 million from Suyamarca, representing its 40% share
of a $15 million cash distribution.

b) The Company issued 5,000 common shares pursuant to the exercise of stock options for gross proceeds of $17,897
(Cdn$18,250).
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INTERNATIONAL MINERALS CORPORATION
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MD&A™")
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

The following discussion and analysis has been prepared as of September 27, 2012, unless otherwise indicated and
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Audited Annual Consolidated Financial Statements and related
notes for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This is the fourth quarterly and first full year that the financial
statements of the Company are presented according to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the
comparison to the prior year’s financial results has been restated to conform to IFRS. Unless otherwise indicated, all
currency is reported in U.S. dollars. The Company’s Annual Information Form and the risks and uncertainties
discussed therein, and the Company’s MD&A for prior periods are filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the
Company’s website at www.intlminerals.com.

Forward Looking Statements
Statements in this report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements involving known and unknown
risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to vary considerably from these statements. Readers are
cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements (see “Risk Factors” which follows).
Significant Achievements for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012
The Company and its partner, Hochschild Mining plc (“Hochschild”), completed a positive feasibility study on the
40%-owned Inmaculada property in Peru and commenced construction of the mine with a targeted production date

of December 2013, subject to the receipt of final construction permits.

The Company completed a positive feasibility study for its 100%-owned Gemfield deposit on the Goldfield property
in Nevada and is successfully advancing permitting, with a target to commence mine construction by mid 2014.

The Company reported proven and probable reserves at both the Gemfield deposit and the Inmaculada property for
the first time.

The Company released a positive preliminary economic assessment at the 100%-owned Converse property, also in
Nevada.

The Company received significant cash distributions during the fiscal year of $40 million from its 40%-owned
Pallancata Mine in Peru.

The Company sold its 3% net smelter return (“NSR”) royalty on production from the Ruby Hill Mine for $38 million
and recorded a gain on the sale of $27.9 million.

The Company completed a 3,000,000 common share repurchase program through the Toronto Stock Exchange at a
cost of Cdn $17.1 million.

The Company redeemed with $39.6 million cash, at maturity, its convertible debentures, while still maintaining a
strong cash and equivalents position of $81.2 million at June 30, 2012 compared to $85.8 million at June 30, 2011.

Financial Performance for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012:
The Company:
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Reported cash flow from continuing operations for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 (the “ Current Year”) of $29.1
million compared to $35.9 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 ( the “ Prior Year”).

Reported cash flow from discontinued operations of $5.3 million for the Current Year compared to $3.8 million for
Prior Year; these amounts do not include the $38 million received from the sale of the Ruby Hill royalty which is
classified as proceeds from investing activities.

Ended the Current Year with approximately $81.2 million in cash and equivalents and total assets of approximately
$336.2 million. Total assets decreased from $369.7 million at fiscal year end June 30, 2011, due to the $53.2 million
write-down of the carrying value of the resource properties in Ecuador.

Reported net income from continuing operations after tax of $28.0 million for the Current Year, or $0.23 per share
compared to $56.7 million for the Prior Year or $0.48 per share;

Reported a gain and income from discontinued operations related to the Ruby Hill royalty of $30.0 million for the
Current Year, or $0.25 per share compared to $3.6 million for the Prior Year or, $0.03 per share.

Reported a loss from discontinued operations related to the resource properties in Ecuador of $53.2 million for the
Current Year, or a loss of $0.44 per share, as a result of the Company’s decision in 2012 to seek alternatives to
maximize the value of these assets.

Reported net and comprehensive income after tax of $4.8 million, or $0.04 per share, compared to net and
comprehensive income after tax of $60.3 million, or $0.51 per share for the Prior Year.

Ended the Current Year with working capital of $126.7 million compared to $50.3 million at fiscal year end June 30,
2011. This working capital includes $40 million in estimated proceeds, net of selling costs, from the sale of the

resource properties in Ecuador.

At the Pallancata Mine in Peru:
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- The Company’s 40% share of the equity income from the Pallancata Mine was approximately $43.0 million
compared to $56.8 million for the Prior Year. Cash distributions for the Current Year totaled $40.0 million compared
to $46.0 million for the Prior Year (of which $10 was re-invested in the mine). An additional $6.0 million cash
distribution was received in July, 2012, which was a receivable at June 30, 2012;

- Production (on a 100% basis) was approximately 8.2 million ounces of silver (Prior Year: 9.5 million ounces) and

29,689 ounces of gold (Prior Year: 34,517 ounces) for the Current Year. The Company’s 40% share was
approximately 3.3 million ounces of silver (Prior Year: 3.8 million ounces) and 11,876 ounces of gold (Prior Year:

13,807 ounces). The decrease in gold and silver production compared to the Prior Year was due primarily to a

decrease in the grades of both silver and gold processed because (a) higher metal prices allowed lower-grade material

to be mined profitably, and (b) the mine experienced an increase in mining dilution due to narrower veins being mined

and c) the mine experienced operational scheduling constraints which restricted mine development and backfill

placement; and

- For the Current Year, direct onsite cash costs were $3.31 per ounce of silver produced after gold by-product credit
(Prior Year: $2.21 per ounce) and total cash costs (as defined by the Gold Institute) were $7.37 per ounce of silver
produced (Prior Year: $6.04 per ounce) after gold by-product credit. Costs per ounce of silver net of gold by-product
credit increased in the Current Year primarily because of (a) lower silver and gold production, (b) lower gold
by-product credit (c) an increase in mining costs associated with the preparation of stopes exploiting the narrower
veins, and, (d) increased Peruvian mining taxes (under the newly-enacted law in late 2011, which replaced the existing
government royalty with an operating-profit based tax).

Financial Performance for the Three-Month Period Ended June 30, 2012:
The Company:

Reported cash flow from continuing operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 (the “Current Quarter”) of $8.4
million compared to $15.1 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 (“ Prior Year’s Quarter”).

Reported cash flow from discontinued operations of $1.0 million for the Current Quarter compared to $1.4 million
for Prior Year’s Quarter. These amounts do not include the $38 million received from the May 2012 sale of the Ruby
Hill royalty which is classified as proceeds from investing activities.

Reported a net loss from continuing operations after tax of $2.4 million for the Current Quarter, or a loss of $0.02
per share compared to net income from continuing operations after tax of $19.4 million for the Prior Year’s Quarter

or $0.16 per share;

Reported a gain from discontinued operations related to the Ruby Hill royalty of $27.9 million for the Current
Quarter, or $0.24 per share, compared to $1.7 million for the Prior Year’s Quarter or $0.01 per share.

Reported a loss from discontinued operations related to the resource properties in Ecuador of $53.2 million for the
Current Quarter, or a loss of $0.45 per share, as a result of the decision in 2012 to seek alternatives to maximize the

value of these assets.

Reported a net and comprehensive loss of $27.7 million or a loss of $0.23 per share, for the Current Quarter
compared to net and comprehensive income of $21.2 million or $0.18 per share, for the Prior Year’s Quarter.

At the Palllancata Mine in Peru:

129



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

- The Company’s 40% share of the equity income from the Pallancata Mine was approximately $3.2 million for the
Current Quarter compared to $13.3 million for the Prior Year’s Quarter. Cash distributions for the Current Quarter
totaled $12.0 million compared to $26 million in the Prior Year’s Quarter;

- Production for the Current Quarter (on a 100% basis) was approximately 1.8 million ounces of silver (Prior Year’s

Quarter: 2.2 million ounces) and 6,402 ounces of gold (Prior Year’s Quarter: 8,427 ounces). The Company’s 40% share
was approximately 730,150 ounces of silver (Prior Year’s Quarter: 867,970 ounces) and 2,561 ounces of gold (Prior

Year’s Quarter: 3,371 ounces). The reasons for the decrease in gold and silver production compared to the Prior Year’s
Quarter are the same as previously explained in the fiscal year end disclosure; and

- For the Current Quarter, direct onsite cash costs were $5.36 per ounce of silver produced after gold by-product credit
(Prior Year’s Quarter: $2.87 per ounce) and total cash costs (as defined by the Gold Institute) were $9.08 per ounce of
silver produced (Prior Year’s Quarter: $7.89 per ounce) after gold by-product credit. Costs per ounce of silver net of
gold by-product credit increased in the Current Quarter primarily because of (a) lower silver and gold production, (b)
lower gold by-product credit, and (c) increased mine site operating costs as explained previously in the fiscal year end
disclosure above.

Corporate Overview

The Company is a Yukon Territory-registered Canadian corporation with its common shares dually listed and traded

on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX: IMZ) and the Swiss Stock Exchange (SIX: IMZ), where the Company is
included in the Swiss Stock Exchange’s Swiss Performance Index (the “SPI”’). The Company’s shares are also secondarily
listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in Germany (symbol: MIW).

The Company is primarily engaged in the exploration, development and mining of gold and silver deposits in the
Americas. The Company produces silver and gold from its 40%-owned Pallancata silver-gold mine in Peru (60%
owned and operated by Hochschild). The Company acquired a 51% interest in the advanced gold and silver
development project, Inmaculada (also in Peru), in 2010 when it acquired Ventura Gold Corp. (“Ventura”). The
Company subsequently sold an 11% interest in Inmaculada to its partner Hochschild. In February 2012, Hochschild
and the Company formally approved Inmaculada for development and construction with a targeted production date of
December 2013.

2
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With the closing of the acquisition of Metallic Ventures Gold, Inc. (“Metallic”) in February 2010, the Company
acquired (a) Ventura’s 51% interest in the Inmaculada project; (b) Metallic’s 3% net smelter return royalty on
production from the Ruby Hill gold mine in Nevada (sold in May 2012), and (c) Metallic’s Goldfield and Converse
gold projects, both in Nevada. The Company also holds variable (50% to 100%) interests in advanced mineral
resource properties in Ecuador (Rio Blanco and Gaby).

Corporate Objectives and Strategy
The Company intends to continue to deliver value to shareholders by increasing its mineral resources and reserves and
expanding its low-cost production in silver and gold projects located in select countries in the Americas where it is
believed that the political risk is low or manageable. The Company’s goal is to increase production and cash flow from
existing levels to mid-tier precious metal producer levels (approximately 200,000 gold equivalent ounces per year)
over the next two to three years.
In the near future, the Company is also planning to grow and diversify its asset base by:
in conjunction with its partner Hochschild, at the 40%-owned Pallancata Mine: (a) adding mineral reserves and
resources; (b) maintaining current production; (c) minimizing operating and sustaining capital costs and (d)
maintaining or increasing cash distributions to the joint venture partners;
in conjunction with its partner Hochschild, and subject to permitting, advancing the 40%-owned Inmaculada Mine
to production by December 2013 and continuing with an aggressive exploration program in order to expand reserves

and resources;

completing the permitting and commencing construction at the 100%-owned Gemfield deposit at the Goldfield gold
project in Nevada in 2014, with the goal of commencing production in mid 2015;

continuing with metallurgical testwork at the 100%-owned Converse gold property in Nevada with the goal of
commencing a feasibility study in 2013, as warranted;

investigating alternatives for maximizing shareholder value from the Company’s resource properties in Ecuador,
including their sale.

seeking investment opportunities in precious metals properties in low risk political jurisdictions in the Americas,
where the Company believes it can increase the value of such properties using its exploration, development,

financing and administrative abilities;

seeking property and/or corporate acquisitions to increase cash flow and to expand the Company’s portfolio of
exploration and development projects; and

advancing the Company's other exploration projects in the Americas.
Property Updates

The technical information reported in this document was reviewed by the Company’s Qualified Person, Vice President
of Corporate Development, Mr. Nick Appleyard (M. AusIMM (CP)).

Pallancata Mine, Peru
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The Pallancata mine is located in southern Peru approximately 180 kilometers southwest of the town of Cuzco and
approximately 520 kilometers southeast of Lima.

Ore from the Pallancata Mine is toll-processed to produce a silver—gold flotation concentrate at Hochschild’s Selene
processing plant located approximately 22 kilometers north of the Pallancata Mine. Hochschild funded 100% of the
initial start-up capital costs for the Pallancata mine up to the 1,000 tonnes per day (“tpd”) production level. A mine
expansion program completed in mid-2009 increased mill throughput from 1,000 tpd to the current 3,000 tpd rate.
This expansion was funded entirely from the mine’s cash flow.

For the calendar year ended December 31, 2011, production at the Pallancata Mine (on a 100% project basis) was
approximately 8.77 million ounces of silver (2010 — 10.14 million ounces) and 33,881 ounces of gold (2010 — 35,848
ounces). The decline in production from 2010 was due primarily to lower silver and gold head grades processed
through the mill, as previously described in the fiscal year financial disclosure. The Company’s 40% share of the 2011
calendar year production was approximately 3.5 million silver ounces and 13,553 ounces of gold.

A total of approximately $115.7 million in cash distributions have been received to date by the Company (beginning
in August 2009) from its 40% interest in Pallancata. Table 1 below is the chronology of the cash distributions

received to date by the Company from Pallancata:

3
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Month
Received

August
2009

November
2009

February
2010

June 2010

December
2010

April 2011

September
2011

December
2011

May 2012

C

Table 1: Pallancata Mine Cash Distributions (IMZ 40% Share)

a s h

Distributions

Received

$)
1,228,300

6,424,600

10,000,000

6,000,000
20,000,000

26,000,000
16,000,000

12,000,000

12,000,000
July 2012 6,000,000

Cumulative
Distributions
Received ($)

1,228,300

7,652,900

17,652,900

23,652,900
43,652,900

69,652,900
85,652,900

97,652,900

109,652,900
115,652,900

Quarterly and annual production statistics for the Pallancata Mine (100% project basis) are summarized in Table 2 and

3:

Table 2: Pallancata Mine Production Highlights (100% Project Basis; in US Dollars)

Ore mined (tonnes)

Ore processed (tonnes)

Average head grade

silverl (g/t)

Average head grade goldl

(g/t)

Concentrate produced

(tonnes)

Quarter
Ended
6/30/12

259,421

270,961

250

1.08

2,006

Fiscal
Year
Ended
6/30/11

Fiscal
Year
Ended
6/30/12

Calendar

Full Year Calendar

2011 Full Year
2010

Quarter
Ended
3/31/12

221,556 1,039,674 1,090,948 1,041,857 1,069,948
257,339 1,070,467 1,071,617 1,090,033 1,063,008

324

263 301 344 280

1.4

0.99 1.3 1.4 1.2

8,622

1,745 8,608 9,541 8,380
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Silver produced2 (oz) 1,825,387 1,780,120 8,768,394 10,135,482 8,185,244 9,461,573
Gold produced2 (oz) 6,402 5,612 33,881 35,848 29,689 34,517
Silver sold ( 0z) 1,730,340 1,826,000 9,063,800 9,997,800 8,127,900 9,531,300
Gold sold ( 0z) 5,950 5,480 33,900 33,732 28,766 32,824
IMZ Direct Site Costs per

oz silver

(after gold by-product

credit)4 ($/0z) $5.36 $5.34 $2.20 $2.22 $3.31 $2.21
IMZ Total Cash Costs per

oz silver

(after gold by-product

credit)5 ($/0z) $9.08 $9.48 $6.38 $5.47 $7.37 $6.04

Table 3: Pallancata Mine Production Highlights (IMZ 40% Share)

Fiscal Fiscal
Quarter Quarter Calendar Calendar Year Year
Ended Ended Full Year Full Year Ended Ended
IMZ's 40% Share 6/30/12  3/31/12 2011 2010 6/30/12  6/30/11
Silver produced2 (oz) 730,155 712,048 3,506,958 4,054,193 3,274,098 3,784,629
Gold produced? (oz) 2,561 2,245 13,553 14,339 11,876 13,807
Silver sold (oz) 692,140 730,400 3,625,500 3,999,120 3,251,160 3,812,500
Gold sold (o0z) 2,380 2,200 13,560 13,493 11,510 13,130
Notes:
1. Head grades for silver and gold are based on the overall metallurgical balance for the process plant.

2.Difference between “produced” metal ounces and “sold” metal ounces is a combination of the smelter metal payability
factors and in-process concentrate changes. Silver sales are rounded.

3.Direct Site Costs per ounce silver and Total Cash Costs per ounce silver reflect a “mined ore inventory adjustment”.
The Company believes that this calculation more accurately matches costs with ounces of production.

4.Direct Site Costs per ounce silver comprise direct mining, mined ore inventory adjustment, toll processing and mine
general and administrative costs (net of gold by-product credit).

5.Total Cash Costs, using the Gold Institute’s definition, comprise: mine operating costs, mined ore inventory
adjustment, toll processing costs, mine general and administrative costs, Hochschild’s management fee, concentrate
transportation and smelting costs and the Peruvian government royalty,( net of gold by-product credit).

6. “g/t” is grams per metric tonne and oz is troy ounces.

4

134



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

Non-IFRS PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Direct site costs and total cash costs (as defined by the Gold Institute) per ounce of silver produced, net of gold
by-product credit, are non-IFRS financial measures, which management believes are useful to measure the operational
performance of the Pallancata Mine. Readers should not rely on these non-IFRS financial measures in isolation.

Mineral Reserves and Resources

Pallancata Mine, Peru

On April 10, 2012, the Company reported updated mineral reserve and resource estimates effective at December 31,
2011, for the Pallancata Mine based on information supplied by Hochschild, the mine operator. These reserve and
resource estimates are summarized as follows.

Proven and Probable Reserve estimates (on a 100% project basis):

3.45 million tonnes (“Mt”) at an average grade of 287 grams per tonne (“g/t”) silver and 1.4 g/t gold, containing a total
of 31.85 million ounces of silver and 152,000 ounces of gold. 40% of these reserves are attributable to the Company.

Measured and Indicated Resource estimate (on a 100% project basis):

5.0 Mt at an average grade of 372 g/t silver and 1.7 g/t gold, containing 60.0 million ounces of silver and 278,000
ounces of gold. 40% of these resources are attributable to the Company. These resources include the proven and
probable reserves.

Inferred Resource estimate (on a 100% project basis):

2.8 Mt at an average grade of 347 g/t silver and 1.5 g/t gold containing 31.3 million ounces of silver and 132,000
ounces of gold are estimated in the Inferred Resources category. 40% of these ounces are attributable to the
Company.

Mineral reserves and resources at Pallancata, details of which are provided in Table 4 (with an effective date of
December 31, 2011) are estimated by Hochschild using a marginal cut-off grade of 144 g/t silver equivalent, which
reflects a marginal cut-off value of $64.73 per tonne using conservative metal prices of $18.00 per ounce of silver and
$1,080 per ounce of gold.

Table 4: Pallancata Mine — Mineral Reserve and Resource Estimate
(Effective at December 31, 2011)

100% Basis 100% BasisIMZ 40% IMZ 40%
Average Average Contained Contained Attributable Attributable

Estimate Grade Grade Silver Gold Silver Gold
Category Tonnes (g/t silver) (g/t gold) Ounces Ounces  Ounces Ounces
Proven

Reserves 2,739,000 289 1.4 25,487,000 121,000 10,195,000 48,000
Probable

Reserves 711,000 278 1.3 6,362,000 31,000 2,545,000 12,000
Total Reserves 3,450,000 287 1.4 31,484,000 152,000 12,739,000 61,000
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100% Basis IMZ 40% IMZ 40%
Average Average Contained 100% Basis Attributable Attributable
Grade Grade Silver Contained  Silver Gold

Tonnes (g/t silver) (g/t gold) Ounces Gold Ounces Ounces Ounces

4,196,000 382 1.8 51,500,000 238,000 20,600,000 95,000

819,000 323 1.5 8,506,000 40,000 3,402,000 16,000
5,015,000 372 1.7 60,006,000 278,000 24,002,000 111,000
2,813,000 347 1.5 31,335,000 132,000 12,534,000 53,000

Measured and Indicated Resources include Proven and Probable Reserves.
Metal prices used are $18.00/0z for silver and $1,080/0z for gold.

The estimated reserves include 24% for ore losses and 21% for dilution assigned using zero grade.
The estimated mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.
Numbers have been rounded in all categories to reflect the precision of the estimates.

6.The mineral resources were estimated using ordinary kriging for the major vein units and inverse distance to the
power of three for peripheral veins.
7. Contained metal in estimated reserves remains subject to metallurgical recovery losses.

5

136



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

Hochschild’s data and methodology for estimated resources have been reviewed by the Company's Vice-President of
Corporate Development, Mr. Nick Appleyard, and by the Company’s Vice-President Special Projects, Mr. Alan
Matthews, both of whom are Qualified Persons in accordance with National Instrument (“NI”") 43-101.

Inmaculada Project, Peru

The 40%-owned Inmaculada Project ("Inmaculada") is located in southern Peru approximately 25 kilometers south of
the Pallancata Mine.

On December 23, 2010, the Company signed an agreement with Hochschild to fast-track development, permitting and

production at Inmaculada. Inmaculada was originally 51% owned by the Company and under the terms of the

agreement the Company sold 11% of its ownership interest to Hochschild increasing Hochschild’s ownership in
Inmaculada to 60%, with Hochschild also becoming the operator. The key commitments and undertakings in this

agreement are as follows:

Hochschild paid the Company a total of $17.65 million in cash.

Hochschild made an equity investment in the Company of $20 million in the form of a private placement of 3.66
million common shares at a price of C$5.525 per share. This private placement closed in November, 2010.

Hochschild will provide $100 million of initial funding required for the planning, development and construction of a
mining operation at the Angela Vein deposit at Inmaculada. Any subsequent expenditure will be funded 60% by
Hochschild and 40% by the Company. As of June 30, 2012, Hochschild had expended approximately $42 million of
its $100 million commitment.

The Company was no longer required to fund and complete a feasibility study at Inmaculada or to issue 200,000
common shares to Hochschild (which were originally scheduled to be issued in February, 2011).

Hochschild committed to build an underground mining operation at the Angela Vein deposit at Inmaculada with a
minimum process capacity of 3,000 tpd by December 23, 2013, unless the parties agreed that such process capacity
is not optimal and subject to any unforeseen delays not within the control of Hochschild. The January 2012
feasibility study contemplated mill throughput of 3,500 tonnes per day.

If Hochschild fails to achieve the intended process capacity by December 23, 2013, then Hochschild must make
quarterly advance payments to the Company during the period of any delay based on the parties’ joint estimate of the
Company’s 40% share of income/cash flows that would have been generated if production had started on schedule.

Hochschild will be operator of the project. Upon commencement of commercial production, Hochschild will receive
a 7.0% management services fee from the joint venture based on the aggregate operating costs incurred by the joint
venture during commercial operations.

The management fee previously charged by Hochschild in respect of the Pallancata Mine was reduced from 10.0%
to 7.0% effective January 1, 2011.

The Company and Hochschild have contributed to Suyamarca their respective ownerships in: a) the Inmaculada
property, b) the Pacapausa property (originally 80% Hochschild, 20% the Company) located adjacent to the
Pallancata Mine, and c) the Puquiopata property (originally 100% the Company), situated adjacent to the
Inmaculada property. These contributions result in all of the properties currently being owned 60% by Hochschild
and 40% by the Company as part of the Suyamarca joint venture, which includes the Pallancata Mine.
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A minimum of 20,000 meters of drilling per year for the first three years following the closing of the transaction
(until December 2013) must be carried out for evaluation of exploration targets outside of the main Angela Vein
deposit. This exploration program will be funded 60% by Hochschild and 40% by the Company.

Inmaculada Mineral Reserve and Resource Estimates

On January 11, 2012, the Company announced the results of an independent feasibility study for Inmaculada (see
below), which included estimates of Measured and Indicated mineral resources and Proven and Probable mineral
reserves. The mineral resources were estimated by R. Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo), and the mineral reserves were
estimated by Angel Mondragon, MAusIMM (CP) both independent consultants and qualified persons and have an
effective date of January 11, 2012.

The mineral reserve estimate is shown in Table 5 below. 40% of the reserves are attributable to the Company.

Table 5: Inmaculada Mineral Reserve Estimate
(Effective at January 11, 2012)

Reserve Gold Grade Silver Grade Contained Contained Contained
Estimate Tonnes (g/t) (g/t) Gold Silver Gold
Category Ounces ounces Equivalent
Ounces
Proven 3,844,000 34 106 421,000 13,125,000 640,000
Probable 3,958,000 3.3 134 424,000 17,196,000 711,000
Total Proven 7,801,000 3.4 120 845,000 30,140,000 1,347,000
and Probable
6
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Notes:
1. Numbers are rounded to reflect the precision of a reserve estimate.
. Gold equivalent ounces are estimated using a 60-to-1 silver to gold ratio.
3. The contained metal estimates include approximately 30% mining dilution for sub-level stoping areas, 25%

mining dilution for cut and fill areas and a 3% ore loss factor, but remain subject to process recovery factors.
Dilution has been included with a grade of 0.3 g/t gold and 11 g/t silver.
4.The mineral resources were classified using Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (“CIM”)
Standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves, Definitions and Guidelines prepared by the CIM Standing
Committee on Reserve Definitions and adopted by the CIM Council on November 12, 2010.
5.The Company is not aware of any known environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, socio-economic,
marketing, political, or other relevant factors that could materially affect the validity of these reserve estimates.
6. The mineral reserves were calculated using a cut-off grade of 2.3 g/t gold equivalent.

The mineral resource estimates are illustrated in Table 6 below. 40% of these resources are attributable to the
Company.

Table 6: Inmaculada Mineral Resource Estimate
(Effective at January 11, 2012)

Resource Gold Grade Silver GradeContained Contained Contained

Estimate Tonnes (g/t) (g/t) Gold Silver Gold

Category Ounces ounces Equivalent
Ounces

Measured 3,280,000 4.1 128 430,000 13,500,000 655,000

Indicated 3,780,000 4.1 159 490,000 19,300,000 812,000

Measured and7,070,000 4.1 144 930,000 32,800,000 1,477,000

Indicated

Inferred 4,940,000 3.9 152 620,000 24,200,000 1,023,000

Notes:

1) Numbers are rounded to reflect the precision of a resource estimate.

2)Mineral reserves are included in measured and indicated mineral resources and the additional resources do not have

demonstrated economic viability.

3) Gold equivalent ounces are estimated using a 60-to-1 silver to gold ratio.

4) To limit the influence of individual high-grade samples, grade capping was applied. Gold assay grades were
capped at 100 g/t and silver grades were capped at 5,000 g/t for the Angela vein which contributes 95% of the
measured and indicated tonnage and 97% of the gold equivalent ounces. Minor veins were capped at variable
values ranging from 5 g/t to 50 g/t gold and 550 g/t to 1,250 g/t silver.

5) An estimated dry bulk density of 2.51 tonnes per cubic meter (“t/m3”’) was used for all mineralized rock.
6) Grades were interpolated using the “ordinary kriging” estimation technique.
7) A cut-off grade of 1.5 g/t gold equivalent was used to calculate resources.

8)The contained metal estimates remain subject to factors such as mining dilution and losses and process recovery
losses.

9)The mineral resources were classified using the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (“CIM”)
Standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves, Definitions and Guidelines prepared by the CIM Standing
Committee on Reserve Definitions and adopted by the CIM Council November 27, 2010.
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Inmaculada Independent Feasibility Study (January 2012)

The preparation of this feasibility study was overseen by the independent engineering firm Ausenco Peru, of Lima,
Peru. Summary details of the feasibility study are presented below in Table 7.

Table 7: Inmaculada Project Feasibility Study (100% Basis)

Item Units Value
Base Case Gold price $ per ounce 1,100
Base Case Silver Price $ per ounce 18
Initial Mine life years 6.3
Averagc? annual gold ounces/year 124,000
production
Average? annual silver ounces/year 4204000
production
Ave.rage annual go}d Au Eq 194,000
equivalent production (4) ounces/year
Llfe—of—mlne gold ounces 783.000
production
Llfe-of—mlne silver ounces 26.488.000
production
Llfe—of—mlne gold equivalent  ounces 1,220,000
production (4)
Plant processing rate (3,500  tonnes/year 1.260.000
tpd)
Metallurgical recovery — gold % 95.6
Metallurglcal recovery — % 96
silver
Initial capital (2) $ (millions) 315
Direct site costs (3) per tonne
$74
processed
Direct site costs (3,5) per ounce Au
(with Ag $133
credit)
Total cash operating costs Per ounce Au
(3,5,6) (with Ag $172
credit)
IRR pre-tax/after tax % 18/12
7
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Pre-tax/after-tax cumulative  $ (millions)

cash flow 323/194

Pre-Tax/after tax NPV at 5%  $ (millions) 181/90

Pre-tax/after tax NPV at 8%  $ (millions) 120/46
Notes:

1)The Company owns a 40% interest in the Inmaculada project. Under the joint venture agreement between the
Company and Hochschild, Hochschild must contribute the first $100 million of feasibility study development and
capital costs. Hochschild will also receive a 7% management fee as operator of the mine. This Table does not
consider the economic impact of these terms. The Company’s attributable cash flow and project economics are
shown in Table 9.

2)Initial capital includes $25 million in contingency and is based on calendar fourth quarter 2011 estimates. No
escalation factors have been applied.

3)Direct site costs include mining, processing, and mine administration, but workers’ profit sharing has been excluded
(as it is considered a tax). Total Cash Operating costs include direct site costs plus estimates of refining and
transportation and the government royalty.

4)Gold equivalent ounces are calculated using a silver-to-gold ratio of 60:1, calculated by using the ratio of metal
prices in the base case.

5)By-product accounting subtracts the revenue generated by silver from the operating costs as a credit to determine
the cost per ounce of gold net of by-product credit.

6)For comparative purposes, if the Company had selected co-product accounting, the resulting total cash operating
costs are estimated to be $502 per ounce for gold and $8.20 per ounce for silver.

The sensitivity of the project cash flows to changes in the prices of gold and silver are shown in Table 8 below. The
base case price assumptions are shown in bold.

Table 8: Inmaculada Project Feasibility Study (100% Basis) Pre-tax Metal Price Sensitivities

Gold Price ($) 900 1,100 1,300 1,500 1,700 1,900
Silver price ($) 15.00 18.00 21.00 25.00 28.00 31.00
IRR (%) 5 18 28 38 46 53
Cum. cash flow ($ 88 323 559 821 1,057 1,292
millions)

NPV 5% ($ millions) 6 181 356 551 726 901
NPV 8% ($ millions) (28) 120 268 433 581 729

Inmaculada Mine Production and Processing Plans

It is proposed in the feasibility study that the underground mining method for Inmaculada will be a combination of
sub-level stoping and cut-and-fill based upon geotechnical rock conditions and vein width. The vein width ranges
from 3 meters to 15 meters, averaging 6.5 meters. Cut-and-fill should account for approximately 55% of the life of
mine production with sub-level stoping accounting for the remaining 45%. In-mine truck haulage will deliver ore to a
surface primary crusher located near the mine portal. Crushed ore will be delivered to the process plant by a conveyor
belt.

The process flow sheet includes primary crushing, semi-autogenous and ball mill grinding and classification to 80%
passing 80 microns followed by cyanide leaching. After countercurrent decantation to recover pregnant solution, the
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leached tailings will be treated to destroy residual cyanide and used, as required, for stope backfill. Tailings not
returned underground will be transferred to a lined impoundment adjacent to the process plant. The pregnant leach
solution will be clarified and de-aerated prior to precipitation of gold and silver with zinc dust. Precipitates will be
dried and smelted on-site to produce doré bars containing gold and silver and minor impurities. The doré bars will be
shipped to a third party refinery for conversion into gold and silver bullion.

Attributable Production and Economic Parameters for the Company’s 40% Interest in Inmaculada

Under the joint venture agreement between the Company and Hochschild, Hochschild is required to contribute the
first $100 million in feasibility study and capital costs for Inmaculada before the joint venture partners begin to fund
the project proportionately. Hochschild will receive a management fee of 7% of the operating costs during the
operating phase.

As of June 30, 2012, Hochschild had spent approximately $42 million on feasibility and development costs. The
Company anticipates that it will commence funding its proportionate share of the capital costs at Inmaculada in the

final calendar quarter of 2012, with the Company’s share estimated as being approximately $15-$20 million.

Table 9 below illustrates the Company’s attributable production and economic parameters for its 40% investment in
Inmaculada.

Table 9: The Company’s 40% Attributable Production and Economic Parameters for Inmaculada

Item Units Value
Average annual gold production  ounces/year 49,600
Average annual silver production ounces/year 1,682,000
Average annual gold equivalent Au Eq
. 78,000
production(2) ounces/year
Life-of-mine gold production ounces 313,000
Life-of-mine silver production ounces 10,600,000
Llfe—of—mlne gold equivalent ounces 488,000
production
Initial capital $ (millions) 91
Direct site costs(1) Per tonne
$74
processed
Direct site costs(1,3) Per ounce Au
(after Ag $133
credit)
8
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Total cash operating costs (1,3,4) Per ounce Au

(after Ag $262
credit)
IRR pre-tax/after tax % 26/21
Pre-tax/after-tax cumulative cash ~ $ (millions) 136/95
flow
Pre-Tax/after tax NPV at 5% $ (millions) 85/57
Pre-tax/after tax NPV at 8% $ (millions) 63/40
Notes:

1) Direct site costs include mining, processing and mine administration, but excludes workers’ profit share. Total cash
operating costs include direct site costs plus estimates of the management fee, refining and transportation charges
and the government royalty.

2)Gold equivalents are estimated using a silver-to-gold ratio of 60-to-1, calculated by using the ratio of the base case
metal prices.

3)By-product accounting subtracts the revenue generated by silver from the total operating costs to determine the cost
per ounce of gold net of by-product credit.

4)For comparative purposes, if the Company had selected co-product accounting, the resulting cash operating costs
would be approximately $560 per ounce for gold and $9.15 per ounce for silver.

The Company’s sensitivity of the project cash flows to changes in the prices of gold and silver are shown in the Table
10 below. The base case price assumptions are shown in bold.

Table 10: Pre-tax Price Sensitivities for the Company’s Attributable Interest in Inmaculada

Gold Price ($) 900 1,100 1,300 1,500 1,700 1,900
Silver price ($) 15.00 18.00 21.00 25.00 28.00 31.00
IRR (%) 9 26 40 55 67 78
Cum cash flow ($ 42 136 231 335 429 523
millions)

NPV 5% ($ millions) 15 85 155 233 302 372
NPV 8% ($ millions) 3 63 122 188 247 306

Goldfield Project, Nevada, USA
Goldfield Property Description

The 100%-owned Goldfield property (“Goldfield”) straddles the boundary between Esmeralda and Nye Counties and is
immediately adjacent to the historic mining town of Goldfield, Nevada, located on State Highway 95, approximately
180 miles northwest of Las Vegas.

Currently, there are three important deposits identified at Goldfield: Gemfield, McMahon Ridge, and Goldfield Main.
They are all structurally controlled, volcanic-hosted, epithermal gold deposits of the high-sulphidation, quartz-alunite

type.

The Goldfield Main deposit is located in the southwest portion of the property and was the center of historical gold
production in the district, with reported production of over 4 million ounces of gold (at grades reported to be
approximately 18 g/t) from the early 1900’s to the 1940’s.
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Goldfield Project Resource Estimation

Mineral resource estimations for the Goldfield property have been conducted separately for the Goldfield Main,
Gemfield and the McMahon Ridge deposits. The current combined Goldfield mineral resource estimates are shown in
Table 11 below. Table 12 shows the individual mineral resource estimates for the Gemfield, McMahon Ridge and
Goldfield deposits. Table 13 shows the mineral reserve estimates for the Gemfield deposit, which were announced in a
news release dated July 17, 2012.

Table 11: Goldfield Project — Combined Mineral Resource Estimates at a cut-off grade of 0.3-0.4 g/t gold)

Gold Contained

Category Tonnes  Grade Gold
(g/t) (ounces)

Measured 12,182,000 1.1 438,000

Indicated 18,915,000 1.3 795,000

Total Measured 31,097,0001.2 1,233,000

and Indicated

Inferred 10,872,000 1.3 438,000
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Table 12: Mineral Resource Estimates for Gemfield, McMahon Ridge and Goldfield Main Deposits
(Effective Dates July 17, 2012 and February 1, 2011 - see Note 1)

Resource Gold Grade Contained
Category Cut-off Tonnes (g/t) Gold
grade (ounces)
Gemfield 0.3 g/t
Measured 12,182,000 1.1 438,000
Indicated 4,852,000 0.9 136,000
Measured and 17,034,000 1.0 574,000
Indicated
Inferred 4,173,000 0.6 74,000
McMahon Ridge0.4 g/t
Measured - - -
Indicated 5,514,000 1.3 238,000
Measured and 5,514,000 1.3 238,000
Indicated
Inferred 108,000 1.1 4,000

Goldfield Main 0.4 g/t

Measured - - -

Indicated 8,549,000 1.5 421,000

Measured and 8,549,000 1.5 421,000

indicated

Inferred 6,591,000 1.7 360,000
Notes:

1.Goldfield Main mineral resource estimation was conducted by R. Mohan Srivastava, an Independent Qualified
Person in accordance with NI 43-101 with an effective date of February 1, 2011. Gemfield and McMahon Ridge
mineral resource estimations were also calculated by R. Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo), with an effective date of July
17,2012.

2. Estimated mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.

3. Numbers have been rounded in all categories to reflect the precision of the estimates.

4.To limit the influence of individual high grade samples, grade capping was used. At Gemfield gold assay grades
were capped at 40 g/t in the main mineralized zone and at 3 g/t outside of this zone. At McMahon Ridge gold grades
were capped at 100 g/t in the main mineralized zone and at 10 g/t outside of this zone. At Goldfield Main for gold
grades inside the main mineralized structure, assays in intervals with lithologies that often have high gold grades
were capped at 75 g/t and assays in intervals with lithologies that rarely have high gold grades were capped at 7.5
g/t. Outside of the main mineralized structure, the corresponding capping values were 9 g/t for high grade
lithologies and 5 g/t for lower grade lithologies.

5. Estimated dry bulk densities of 2.21 to 2.37 tonnes per cubic meter (“t/m3”’) were used for mineralized material

from Gemfield and dry bulk densities from 2.03 to 2.37 t/m3 were used for McMahon Ridge. At Goldfield
Main a bulk dry density of 2.14 t/m3 was used for in-situ rock and 1.53 t/m3 for back filled stopes

6. Grades were estimated using the ordinary kriging estimation technique.

7. Contained metal estimates remain subject to factors such as mining dilution and losses and metallurgical recovery
losses.

8.The mineral resources were classified using the Canadian Institute of Mining, metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM)
Standards on Minerals Resources and Reserves, Definitions and Guidelines prepared by the CIM Standing
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Committee on Reserve Definitions adopted by the CIM on November 27, 2010.

Updated mineral resource estimates for the Gemfield and McMahon Ridge deposits were calculated by R. Mohan
Srivastava, an independent consultant and qualified person with an effective date of July 17, 2012. The Goldfield
Main deposit mineral resource estimated was previously calculated by R. Mohan Srivastava with an effective date of
February 1, 2011 (see press release dated February 1, 2011).

The resource estimations were conducted using all drill assay data available as of May 2012, representing a total of
532 core and reverse circulation (“RC”) drill holes totaling approximately 76,000 meters for Gemfield and 317 core and
RC drill holes totaling approximately 38,900 meters for McMahon Ridge.

For Gemfield, the updated resource estimate represents a 10% increase in measured and indicated tonnage and a 6%
increase in the contained ounces of gold compared to the previously-published resource estimate (July 12, 2005) For
McMahon Ridge, the updated resource estimate represents a 25% decrease in Measured and Indicated tonnage and a
16% decrease in the contained ounces of gold from the previously-published resource estimate (also July 12, 2005).
The increase in mineral resources at Gemfield is mostly due to additional drilling, whilst at McMahon Ridge the
reduction can be attributed to a change in reporting cut-off from 0.27 g/t to 0.4 g/t as well as a limited amount of new
drilling. A new mineral resource was not estimated for Goldfield Main.

Gemfield Deposit- Resource Estimation Methodology

The ordinary kriging method utilized a search ellipse that considered only those nearby drill-hole samples that fell
within a single mineralized horizon whose top and bottom was interpreted on east-west cross-sections and connected
section-to-section to create triangulated surfaces that delineate the top and bottom of the mineralized zone. The search
ellipse is oriented parallel to the mineralized zone, following its undulations and has a radius of 53 meters in the N 25
E direction, 30 meters in the N 65 W direction and 6 meters in the vertical direction, equal to the ranges in the
variogram. An octant search was used to limit the effects of sample clustering; within each octant, only the closest
four samples were retained for estimation. A block size of 3mX3mX3m was used for estimation; these were
re-blocked to 6mX6mX6m for inventorying and reporting the mineral resource. Tonnages were calculated for each
block using tonnage factors that vary according to rock type and alteration.

10
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The estimation of grade used the actual capped drill-hole assays; no compositing was performed. Once the ordinary
kriging weights had been calculated, these weights were multiplied by the assay length and then re-normalized to sum
to one. This technique ensures that variable sample length in drill core samples is correctly accounted for in grade
estimation.

Resource classification was based on three criteria: 1) distance to the nearest assay sample, 2) number of octants with
data, and 3) number of different drill-holes. Below are the principle criteria for each resource category:

Measured Resources have blocks within 1/3 the variogram range of a drill-hole sample from at least four different
drill holes in at least four octants.
Indicated Resources have blocks that are within 2/3 the variogram range of a drill-hole sample from at least two drill
holes in at least four octants.

Inferred Resources have blocks that are within the variogram range of a drill-hole sample.

Below the oxide/sulphide boundary, no grade estimates were calculated; all classified mineral resources lie in the
oxide zone.

McMahon Ridge Deposit- Resource Estimation Methodology

Ordinary kriging was used to estimate the proportions of two populations; one is the host of the continuous
mineralization and the other is the host of the erratic and discontinuous mineralization. For each population, the gold
grade was estimated using nearby assays from the same population; average grade was then calculated by tonnage
weighting the grades of the two populations within each 3mX3mX3m block. The search ellipse was orientated to
parallel to the locally-varying direction of maximum continuity extracted from geological cross-sections. It had a
radius of 40 meters in the strike and down-dip directions, and 5 meters perpendicular to the tabular mineralization;
these are equal to the ranges of the variogram. An octant search was used to limit the effects of sample clustering;
within each octant, only the closest four samples were retained for estimation. A block size of 3mX3mX3m was used
for estimation; these were re-blocked to 6mX6mX6m for inventorying and reporting the mineral resource. Tonnage
factors vary according to rock-type and alteration.

The estimation of grade used drill-hole assays, capped at 100g/t in the population that hosts continuous mineralization
and 10 g/t in the erratic and discontinuous mineralization; no compositing was performed. Once ordinary kriging
weights had been calculated, these weights were multiplied by the assay length and then renormalized to sum to one.
This technique ensures that variable sample length in drill core samples is correctly accounted for in grade estimation.

Tonnage and metal content in historical shafts and production stopes were removed from the block model prior to
calculating the resource estimate.

Resource classification was based on three criteria: 1) distance to the nearest assay sample, 2) number of octants with
data, and 3) number of different drill-holes. Below are the principle criteria for each resource category:

Indicated Resources have blocks that are within 2/3 the variogram range of a drill-hole sample from at least two drill
holes in at least four octants.
Inferred Resources have blocks that are within the variogram range of a drill-hole sample.

Gemfield Mineral Reserve Estimates

The mineral reserve estimate for the Gemfield deposit is shown in Table 13 and was calculated by Dayan Anderson
MMSA, QP of Micon International Limited, with an effective date of July 17, 2012. This is the first mineral reserve
estimate for the Gemfield deposit. The reserves were estimated using a gold price of $1,300 per ounce and an average
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cut-off grade of 0.3 g/t.

Table 13: Gemfield Deposit Mineral Reserve Estimate
(Effective Date July 17, 2012)

Gold Gold
Category Tonnes Grade  Ounces
(€:209)
Proven 11,041,000 1.16 412,000
Probable 3,246,000 0.95 99,000

Total Proven and 1 s ye7.000 111 511,000
Probable

Notes:

1.Numbers are rounded to reflect the precision of the estimates

2.The mineral reserves were estimated using the CIM standards on Mineral Resources and Reserves, Definitions and
Guidelines prepared by the CIM and adopted on November 27, 2010.

3.The company is not aware of any environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation. socio-economic, marketing,
political, or other relevant factors that materially affect the validity of these reserves.

Gemfield Feasibility Study Summary

On July 17, 2012, the Company released the results of an independent feasibility study on the 100%-owned Gemfield
gold deposit at Goldfield. This study which was overseen by Micon International of Toronto, Canada. SRK
Consulting (US) of Reno, Nevada was responsible for the heap leach pad design and R. Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo)
for the updated resource estimate.

11
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This feasibility study used a base-case gold price of $1,350 per ounce and a silver price of $25 per ounce. It envisaged
a conventional open pit shovel and truck haulage operation processing 6,000 tonnes per day using cyanide heap
leaching followed by carbon adsorption/stripping and electrowinning to produce gold and silver doré bars. Over the
estimated 6.5 year mine life, it is estimated that 430,000 ounces of gold will be produced, generating approximately
$168 million in net cash flow before taxes. The Goldfield Main and McMahon Ridge deposits did not form part of the
feasibility study because they remain subject to further drilling and metallurgical test work.

The results of the feasibility study are summarized in the following Table 14.

Table 14: Gemfield Feasibility Study Results (July 17, 2012)

Item Units Value
Base case gold price $ per ounce 1,350
Initial mine life Years 6.5
Average annual gold Ounces/year 66,000
production
Average metallurgical % 84
recovery
Life-of-mine gold production Ounces 430,000
Tonnes processed Tonnes/year 2,190,000
Initial capital (1,6) $ millions 133
Total sustaining capital costs ~ $ millions 16
Direct site operating costs (2) Per tonne 15.67
processed
Cash operating costs, (after $ per ounce Au 526
Ag credit) (2,5)
Total cash operating cost, $ per ounce Au 611
(after Ag credit) (2,5)
IRR pre-tax/post tax (4) % 22/18
Pre-tax/post tax cash flow $ (millions) 168/132
(undiscounted) (3,4)
Pre-tax/post tax NPV at 5% $ (millions) 102/75
3.4
Pre-tax/post tax NPV at 7% $ (millions) 83/59
3.4
Notes:
1) Initial capital includes $20 million in contingency allowance and is based on Q2 2012 estimates. No

2)

3)
4)
5)

6)
7)
8)

escalation factors have been applied.

Direct site operating costs include mining, processing and mine G&A costs. Cash operating costs include
direct site costs plus estimates of transport and refining charges, net of the silver credit. Total cash costs
include cash operating costs plus a 5% NSR royalty and the Nevada Net Proceeds of Minerals Tax.

Cash flow and NPV estimates include a 5% NSR due to a third party.

The after tax estimates include all estimated income taxes applied to the project.

By-product accounting subtracts the revenue generated by silver sales from the total operating costs to
determine the cost per ounce of gold. Total silver revenue for the base case is approximately $2 million, less
than 0.5% of the estimated total project revenue.

Initial capital costs include $19 million to re-align State Highway 95.

Direct site operating costs per tonne of ore comprise processing $6.36, mining $6.39 and G&A $2.92.
Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.

149



Edgar Filing: INTERNATIONAL TOWER HILL MINES LTD - Form 40-APP

The sensitivity of the project cash flows to changes in the prices of gold are shown in Table 15 below. The base case
price assumptions are shown in bold.

Table 15: Gemfield Project Feasibility Study- Pre-tax Sensitivity Analysis to Gold Price Changes (base case in bold)

Gold Price ($) 1,100 1,350 1,600 1,850
IRR (%) 10 22 33 42
Cum. cash flow ($ 66 168 270 373
millions)

NPV 5% ($ millions) 26 102 179 256
NPV 7% ($ millions) 14 83 152 220

Gemfield Mine Production and Processing Plans

Development of the Gemfield deposit will utilize standard open pit mining technology to create an open pit, which
will be mined in four distinct phases. Ore and waste will be drilled and blasted on 6 meter high benches with loading
and hauling accomplished using 6.5 meter front end loaders and 40 tonne capacity haul trucks. Waste material has
largely been characterized as benign in terms of acid rock drainage and will be stored immediately to and east of the
open pit. A stockpiling strategy will be employed to process higher value material. The average life of mine strip ratio
is approximately 2.14:1, with inter-ramp slope angles ranging from 40 to 45 degrees.

The planned process flow sheet includes 3-stage crushing to achieve 100% passing 12.7 millimeters and cyanide heap
leaching, followed by carbon absorption/stripping, electrowinning and smelting to produce gold and silver dore bars.
The dore will be shipped to a third party refinery for conversion into bullion.

The column test results from the Gemfield oxide zone have returned gold recoveries between 72% and 96% passing
12.7 millimeters crush size and at the range of gold head grades typically anticipated from the pit. Test work on
mineralized material from below the oxide/sulfide boundary indicates that the sulfide mineralization is refractory to
cyanidation and has been assigned zero recovery. A recovery model for the oxide mineralization has resulted in an
estimated life-of-mine recovery of 84% for gold, and 5% for silver.

Work continues on the Environmental Baseline Study and it is on schedule for submission by the end of 2012.
Drafting of the Plan of Operations has commenced and will be submitted at the same time as the baseline study.
Following acceptance of the Environmental Baseline Study and the Plan of Operations, an Environmental Impact
Statement process will commence with an estimated time frame to completion of 15 to 18 months.
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Permitting will start following the commencement of the Environmental Impact Statement process. The Company is
in the process of engaging an EPCM contractor to manage the engineering, design and construction of the mine.

Converse Project, Nevada, USA
Converse Property Description

The 100%-owned Converse gold project (“Converse”) is located in the western part of the Battle Mountain Gold Belt in
Nevada, a northwest linear trend that extends from the Twin Creeks gold deposit in the north to the Cove-McCoy gold
deposits in the south. This mineralized belt accounts for over 50 million ounces of estimated cumulative gold
production and mineral resources.

Newmont’s Lone Tree Mine (closed in 2007) is located 14 km to the north-northeast; Goldcorp’s Marigold Mine is
located 8 km east of Converse; Newmont’s Phoenix complex is located 30 km to the east-southeast. These three
deposits account for some 30 million of the 50 million ounces reported in the Battle Mountain Gold Belt. Converse is
hosted in the same favorable stratigraphic package and area of thrust faulting as those three major gold deposits.

Converse Preliminary Economic Assessment (“scoping study’’) Summary

On December 19, 2011, the Company released the results of an independently prepared scoping study for Converse,
which was overseen by Micon International of Toronto, Canada. SRK Consulting (U.S.) Inc. of Reno was responsible
for the heap leach pad design and R. Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo) for the updated resource estimate.

This scoping study used a base-case gold price of $1,300 per ounce and a silver price of $25 per ounce. It envisaged a
conventional open pit shovel and truck haulage operation processing 45,000 tonnes per day using cyanide heap
leaching followed by carbon adsorption/stripping and electrowinning to produce gold and silver doré bars. Over the
14 year mine life, it is estimated that 2.2 million ounces of gold and 8.5 million ounces of silver could be produced,
generating almost $500 million in net cash flow before taxes.

The results of the scoping study are summarized in the following Table 16.

Table 16: Converse Scoping Study Results (December 2011)

Item Units Value
Base case gold price $ per ounce 1,300
Base case silver price $ per ounce 25
Initial mine life Years 13.5
Strip ratio Waste rock: ore 23to1
Average annual gold Ounces/year 160,000
production

Average annual silver Ounces/year 638,000
production

Average annual gold Goldequivalent 173,000
equivalent production(4) ounces/year

Life-of-mine gold production Ounces 2,165,000
Life-of-mine silver production ~ Ounces 8,471,000
Life-of-mine gold equivalent Gold equivalent 2,328,000
production (4) ounces

Tonnes processed Tonnes/year 16,556,000
Metallurgical recovery- gold % 60
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Metallurgical recovery- silver % 31
Initial capital (2) $ (millions) 455
Total cash operating cost (3) Per tonne 8.35
processed
Total cash operating cost (5) Per ounce Au 745
(after Ag
credit)
Pre-tax IRR % 10.5
Pre-tax cash flow $ (millions) 494
(undiscounted) (6)
Pre-tax NPV at 5% (6) $ (millions) 185
Pre-tax NPV at 8% (6) $ (millions) 70
Notes:

1) This scoping study is preliminary in nature and includes inferred resources that are considered too speculative
geologically to have economic considerations applied to them to be categorized as mineral reserves. There is
no certainty that the results of the scoping study will be realized and actual results may vary substantially.

2) Initial capital includes $60 million in contingency allowance. Costs are based on calendar third quarter 2011
estimates and no escalation factors have been applied.

3) Total cash operating costs include estimates of refining charges.

4) Gold equivalents for production are estimated using a silver-to-gold ratio of 52-to-1 calculated by using the
base case metal prices.

5) By-product accounting deducts the revenue generated by silver sales from the total operating costs to
determine the cost per ounce of gold net of by-product credit.

6) Cash flow and net present values are all shown pre-tax and incorporate any net smelter return royalties owing
to third parties.

7) Mineral resources that are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Table 17 below shows the sensitivity of Converse’s cash flows to changes in the price of silver and gold, with the base
case in bold.
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Table 17: Converse Metal Price Sensitivity Analysis

Gold and $1,000 $1,200 $1,300 $1,400 $1,600 $1,800 $2,000
Silver price $19.00 $23.00 $25.00 $27.00 $31.00 $35.00 $39.00
IRR (%) 4.3) 6.0 10.5 14.7 22.5 29.8 36.8
Cash flow ($ (171) 272 494 715 1,158 1,602 2,045
millions)

NPV at 5% ($ (269) 33 185 336 639 941 1,244
millions)

NPV at 8% ($ (300) (54) 70 193 440 687 934
millions)

Converse Resource Estimation

The Converse mineral resources estimated and shown below are based on drill results received up to the cut-off date
of November 4, 2011. They represent an update of the mineral resource estimate for Converse announced on August
24,2011, and were prepared by R. Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo), an independent consultant and qualified person.

The resource estimate is reported at a cut-off grade of 0.27 g/t gold.

As of November 2011, a total of 316 resource definition and other exploration drill holes (both reverse circulation and
core) have been completed totaling approximately 65,000 meters. This mineral resource estimate is based on the
results of 209 drill holes totaling approximately 50,600 meters, which have defined an area of mineralization over
1,500 meters by 2,000 meters. The remaining 107 drill holes are exploration holes that are not close enough to the
mineralized body to influence the mineral resource estimate.

Below in Table 18 is the current mineral resource estimate for Converse:
Table: 18: CONVERSE-REDLINE MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATE
(Effective at December 19, 2011)

Classification  Tonnes Gold Silver Contained Contained Contained
Grade Grade Gold Silver Gold
(g/t) (g/t) ounces ounces Equivalent
ounces
Measured 221,172,000 0.5 3.9 3,590,000 27,828,000 3,868,000
Indicated 99,057,000 0.5 3.2 1,582,000 10,125,000 1,683,000
Measured + 320,229,000 0.5 3.7 5,172,000 37,953,000 5,552,000
Indicated
Inferred 31,242,000 0.5 3.0 507,000 3,013,000 537,000
Notes:

1. The cut-off grade for the resource estimates assumes a metal price of $1,300 per ounce for gold and $25 per ounce
for silver, with assumed metallurgical recoveries of 60% for gold and 31% for silver.
Estimated mineral resources do not have demonstrated economic viability.
Numbers have been rounded in all categories to reflect the precision of the estimates.
An overall average bulk density for bedrock of 2.72 t/m3 has been used for the tonnage estimates.
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The mineral resources were estimated using ordinary kriging to estimate metal grades. A block size of 15.2 meters
by 15.2 meters by 6.1 meters was used and outlier high grades were top cut to 15g/t gold and 100 g/t for silver.
6.The contained metal estimates remain subject to factors such as mining dilution and process recovery losses. Silver
ounces were converted to gold equivalent ounces using a 100-to-1 silver-to-gold ratio.
7.The Company is not aware of any known environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation, socio-economic,
marketing, political, or other relevant factors that could materially affect the validity of these resource estimates.

The Company will make a decision with respect to initiating a feasibility study at Converse by the end of calendar
year 2012, based on the results of ongoing metallurgical testwork.

Ruby Hill Mine NSR Royalty, Nevada, USA

On May 23, 2012, and effective as at April 1, 2012, the Company sold its 3% NSR royalty on production from Barrick
Gold Corporation’s Ruby Hill gold mine in Nevada to Royal Gold, Inc. for $38 million in cash.

Ecuador

Following the suspension of all exploration and mining activities in April 2008, as a result of the Ecuadorian
government’s Mining Mandate, the Company maintained the majority of its technical and administrative staff and
community workers in Ecuador in order to continue with various Mining Mandate compliant technical studies and
on-site maintenance activities at its Rio Blanco and Gaby projects.

On January 29, 2009, a new Mining Law was approved by Ecuador’s President Rafael Correa and the mining
regulations to supplement and provide parameters for the new Mining Law were issued on November 4, 2009. In the
second calendar quarter of 2010, the government of Ecuador issued new mining titles for all of the mining concessions
on the Rio Blanco and Gaby Projects.
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The Company commenced negotiations with the Government of Ecuador in February 2011, and this process remains
on-going. As a result of delays and uncertainties with respect to the terms and conditions of these negotiations,
combined with other economic, social and political risk factors, the Company appointed two investment advisors to
assist the Company in implementing its strategy to maximize the value of the resource properties in Ecuador,
including their sale.

Rio Blanco, Ecuador

With the Company investigating alternatives for maximizing value for Rio Blanco, including its potential sale, it is
uncertain if the Company will advance the development of the Rio Blanco project.

At Rio Blanco, as of October 2006, the Company had estimated proven and probable mineral reserves for the
Alejandra North and San Luis veins of 605,000 ounces of gold and 4.3 million ounces of silver contained within 2.15
million tonnes at average grades of 8.8 g/t gold and 62 g/t silver as shown in Table 19.

Table 19: Rio Blanco Reserve Estimate
(Effective at October 12, 2006)

Gold Silver

Reserve Category Tonnes Grade (g/t) Contained Grade (g/t) Contained

Ounces(1) Ounces(1)
Proven 143,000 10.8 49,00090 410,000
Probable 2,005,000 8.6 555,00061 3,896,000
Proven and 2,147,000 8.8 605,00062 4,307,000
Probable
Notes:

(1) The mineral reserves are derived from total Measured and Indicated resources of 2.15 million tonnes at an average
grade of 9.5 g/t gold and 69 g/t silver containing 661,000 ounces of gold and 4,785,000 ounces of silver at a cut-off
grade of 3 g/t for Alejandra North and 4 g/t gold for San Luis and using a gold price of $475 per ounce (see the
news release dated May 30, 2006 for additional information).

(2) The mineral reserves remain subject to estimated metallurgical recoveries of 87% for gold and 70% for silver.

(3) Mining dilution of approximately 10%, with a diluting grade of 1.7 g/t gold has been included in the reserves.

(4) Mining losses have been estimated at 10% for general mining. In addition, approximately 10% of the sill pillar
will not be recovered.

The mineral reserves were prepared in accordance with NI 43-101 by Wardrop (Qualified Person, Mining Engineer
Ivan Arriagada, P. Eng) with an effective date of October 12, 2006, using a 4.0 g/t gold cut-off grade and a $475/0z
gold price. Numbers are rounded to reflect the precision of a reserve estimate.

Gaby, Ecuador

The Company holds property rights and interests ranging from 50% to 100% in the Gaby project area and controls
approximately 60% of the total currently-known gold resource.

The Company has not yet received permission from the Ecuadorian government to re-start exploration activities due

to issues related to the fact that the south-eastern (non-mineralized) part of one of the concessions is within the “buffer
zone” of a “protected forest” area. Due to perceived economic, social and political risks in Ecuador and inherent with the
Gaby project; the Company is implementing a strategy to maximize Gaby’s value, including its sale.
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Mineralization at Gaby represents a large disseminated gold porphyry system, which could be mined by large-scale
open-pit methods.

As at July 2009, as part of a pre-feasibility study (“PFS”), combined Measured and Indicated resources (on a 100%
project basis) were estimated by R. Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo) of FSS Canada, an independent consulting firm, at
approximately 356 million tonnes at an average grade of 0.6 g/t gold, containing 6.9 million ounces of

gold. Approximately 4.1 million ounces of gold are attributable to the Company, based on the Company’s rights and
ownership interests in the Gaby mineral concessions. Gaby was not economic at a base case price of $650 gold as at
January 2009 and therefore no reserves could be estimated at that time.

Additional inferred resources are estimated to be 143 million tonnes at an average grade of 0.6 g/t gold containing an
additional 2.9 million ounces of gold, of which approximately 1.8 million ounces of gold are attributable to the
Company, based on the Company’s ownership interests in the mineral concessions comprising the Gaby property.

The base-case mineral resource estimate shown in Table 20 below was calculated at a cut-off grade of 0.4 g/t gold,
which approximates the internal cut-off grade for the recovery process options, considered in the PFS (see information

below) and uses a base-case gold price of $650 per ounce.
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Table 20: Gaby Project — The Company’s Attributable Mineral Resource and Total Mineral Resource
(100% project basis effective as of January 26, 2009 — showing current updated attributable ounces)

Contained

Resource Gold I.MZ
. Cut-Off Gold Grade Attributable
Estimate (a/t gold) Tonnes (/) Ounces Gold
Category gte £ (100%
. Ounces

Project)
Measured 0.4 91,600,000 0.6 1,900,000 1,141,100
Indicated 04 264,800,000 0.6 5,040,000 2,964,000
Measured
and 0.4 356,400,000 0.6 6,940,000 4,105,100
Indicated
Inferred 0.4 143,200,000 0.6 2,850,000 1,760,600
Notes:

1. Numbers are rounded to reflect the precision of a resource estimate.

2. The estimated mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability.
3.To limit the influence of individual high-grade gold samples, grade cutting was used. Gold assay grades were
capped at 30 g/t.
4. Average dry bulk densities of 2.77 t/m3 for intrusive rocks, 2.97 t/m3 for volcanic rocks and 1.36 t/m3 for saprolite
(oxidized zone) were used for block volumes.
5.The grades were interpolated using the “Probability Assisted Constrained Kriging” estimation technique within the
sulfide geologic domain and ordinary kriging within the saprolite (surface-oxidized material).
6. The contained metal estimates remain subject to factors such as mining dilution and process recovery losses.
7.Previously released resource estimates have included grades for copper. Copper recovery has been eliminated from
the process flow sheet as the contained copper values at consensus long-term copper prices of approximately $1.50
per pound do not meet the requirement of a “reasonable prospect for economic extraction” under NI 43-101 and
therefore are no longer included in the Company’s resource inventory for the Gaby project.
8.These mineral resources were classified in accordance with CIM guidelines by FSS Canada’s Qualified Person, R.
Mohan Srivastava (P. Geo).

DISCUSSION OF OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Table 21 below summarizes key financial data for the Company for the most recent three fiscal years ended June 30,
2012.

Table 21: SUMMARY OF SELECTED ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Year ended Year ended Year ended
Amounts in $ June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010

(IFRS) (IFRS) (Cdn GAAP)
Working capital 126,733,956 50,343,492 30,387,671
Total assets 336,194,445 369,701,107 312,759,640
Total long term liabilities 8,160,000 8,000,000 75,446,543
Total shareholders’ equity324,666,533 18,281,134 224,916,549
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Net income after tax, 27,987,878 56,689,020 8,730,818
from continuing

operations

Earnings per share from 0.23 0.48 0.09
continuing

operations-basic

Earnings per share from 0.23 0.48 0.09
continuing

operations-diluted

Table 22 summarizes pertinent financial and other information which is required to be disclosed by the Company,
together with other information for the last eight financial quarters ending June 30, 2012, that the management of the
Company considers useful for an understanding of the financial condition and the results of the operations of the
Company. For more detailed information, refer to the accompanying Audited Annual Consolidated Financial
Statements as at June 30, 2012. All figures are in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts, and gold and
silver sold and total assets, total liabilities and shareholder’ equity which are in millions.

Table 22: SUMMARY QUARTERLY INFORMATION UPDATE TABLE

9/30/10 12/31/10 3/31/11 6/30/11 9/30/11 12/31/11 3/31/12
(IFRS) {FRS) (IFRS) (IFRS) (IFRS) (IFRS) (
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